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Synopsis

This module is a continuation from the ‘Banking Operations 1’ module in Intermediate level. It starts with a recap of the main ideas mentioned in the previous module, as an introduction to the new topics of this module. The module then delves into the topic on bank performance from a financial perspective, by introducing candidates to banks’ financial statements, and analysing banks’ profitability using the return on equity measurement.

While the pre-requisite module has an introductory chapter on risk, this module expands on the topic by elaborating on risk analysis and management.

This is followed by topics relating to conducting banking business activities, explaining various aspects of operations from funding the bank, managing income, understanding the credit framework, and leveraging technology for banking.

Learning Outcomes

1. The candidates should be able to explain and analyse a bank’s financial statement.

2. The candidate should be able to calculate Return on Equity.

3. The candidate should be able to explain risk management processes and to analyse risk in a given case study.

4. The candidate should be able to explain the concept of liquidity.

5. The candidate should be able to identify a bank’s source of funds and to calculate the cost of funds.

6. The candidate should be able to describe the types of income to a bank and explain the processes in managing a bank’s income sources.

7. The candidate should be able to explain the credit framework in detail.

8. The candidate should be able to describe the various purposes and basic operations of technologies and systems used in a bank.
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CHAPTER 1

A RECAP ON BANK MANAGEMENT



CHAPTER OVERVIEW


In the previous module, we started by looking into the nature of banks and their different types before going into the details of Islamic banks. We defined Islamic banks as financial institutions that conduct business based on the principles of Shariah. It is important to mention again that the basic business operations and functions of an Islamic bank are similar to those of conventional banks, which is to mobilise funds through deposit and investment accounts. These funds are utilised to provide financing facilities to the bank’s customers. In the context of this module, the key difference however, is that Islamic banking operations are conducted within Shariah parameters. Ultimately, conventional banks and Islamic banks act as intermediaries between the surplus unit (depositors) and the deficit unit (financing customers). Therefore, the business model of banks (conventional and Islamic) is to channel those funds efficiently and prudently. The intermediary function creates the liability (from the deposits) and the assets (from the financing).

Following that, we analysed the two sides of an Islamic bank—the assets and the liabilities. On the asset side, we discuss the financing products available, while on the liabilities side we discussed the deposit and investment accounts.




In an Islamic banking operation, similar to conventional banks, asset and liability management is very important to ensure the sustainability of the bank. Both the assets and liabilities of an Islamic bank should correspond and are inter-related with each other and any mismatch between the two should be managed carefully.

In an Islamic bank, asset is defined as an item which the Islamic bank has legal right to hold, use or dispose. Liabilities are obligations arising from a transaction that has already occurred and requires the bank to provide a service to the client or to repay him a previously placed money (deposit). Hence, Islamic banks need to manage their assets properly in order to meet their liabilities.

Generally, for financing activities, the bank will earn income in the form of profit margin or profit sharing or rental. Fees may also be earned from non-financing activities i.e. from services provided by the bank.

As an institution mobilising funds, in addition to their own capital, Islamic banks also gather funds through two main sources, namely through deposits and through investment deposits. Deposits consists of three types: current account, savings account and term deposits. On the other hand, investment account products are offered to customers of an Islamic bank when they want to invest by sharing the risk and profits of the investment. The investment accounts will be based on Shariah principles where the principal amount and the profit is not guaranteed by the bank. The money market, which provides short-term funding, is another source for funding especially in emergencies.

The organisation structure of Islamic banks is designed to support the financial intermediary function. In Chapter 2 we looked at the Islamic bank’s structure as an introduction to presenting the governance framework including the responsibilities of the board of directors and senior management and a brief overview of the Shariah governance which will be covered in this module as well.

Generally, the basic structure of an Islamic bank is divided into the following divisions:
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Figure 1: Functional Structure of an Islamic Bank

• Operations Division – This division is responsible for the overall branch and banking operations. Its main functions include mobilising deposits and providing banking services to the customers. In the this module, we will discuss how Islamic banks generate an income from these services. In Chapter 5, types of bank income are discussed in detail, as well as managing non-financing income: the importance, its sources and strategies for increasing non-financing income.

• Financing Division – This division is responsible for financing activities which generate income for the bank by extending financing facilities to customers under the various segments that include consumer, commercial, corporate. Credit management will be further elaborated in this module in Chapter 6: Credit Framework where we will discuss credit policy, consumer credit principles and credit risk management.

• Treasury – This division takes charge of the asset and liabilities management of the bank which include investment in short- and medium-term instruments as well as managing liquidity that deals with shortages and excesses of the bank’s funds. We will elaborate on these topics in this module, where the concepts of liquidity, sources of funds and cost of funds will be discussed in details in Chapter 3: Funding the Bank.

• Support – providing support to business units and other units that include human capital, ICT, facilities, control and compliance, risk management, finance, etc. We elaborate more on the functions of outputs of these units in the current module. For example, the finance unit prepares the financial statements of the bank which is used to analyse bank performance. In Chapter 2, we explain and analyse an Islamic bank’s financial statements. Further, the chapter elaborates on using the ROE model to analyse the performance of the bank.

Customers of Islamic banks can be segmented into three broad categories, namely corporate, commercial and retail. As such, we can see that the strategic business function of Islamic banks are divided into three main business functions – corporate, commercial and retail/consumers.

Islamic banks are generally involved in various sectors and markets through financing facilities. These business sectors are usually segregated into market segmentation based on the types and size of the target markets. The purpose of market segmentation is to have a better focus of the business and operations of a specific target market.

Moreover, the relationship between Islamic banks and their customers and the products offered to these customers are further discussed.

A recent strategy for Islamic banking called value-based intermediation (VBI) was presented in a special chapter beside another modern topic which is the financial technology and digital banking. We explained the concepts of VBI, its emergence, importance, progress and applications. Regarding financial technology, the chapter covered the concept and importance of fintech and digital banking and highlight the landscape of competition where banking and non-banking institutions compete. Understanding and using the appropriate technology is essential for banks to survive and compete in this era. Therefore, this module has a specific Chapter on the usage of technology in banking. The chapter discusses the concept and the need for a bank management system. It further explains the main components of bank information systems such as core banking system and facility management system. It also covers the customer relationship management (CRM) system including business intelligence and CRM analytics. In addition, it discusses ATMs and online banking systems.

The concept of risk and risk management will be further explained in this module in Chapter 3: risk analysis and management where we will discuss in detail the CAMELS and SuRF risk management in Islamic banks and managing interest rate risk and GAP analysis.

The overall view of Islamic banking operations can be summarised as follows:

Islamic banks mobilise funds from different sources through current and savings accounts, fixed deposits and investment accounts, in addition to the Islamic interbank money market. Islamic banks use these funds in different assets such as financing and investment to generate income. In addition, they also earn revenues from fees and commissions from services rendered to their customers. The generated income from different assers will be distributed to the sources of funds and the bank according to their respective terms of the contracts whereas the fees and commission are fully earned by the Islamic banks. Both types of income represent the Islamic bank’s total profit. The net profit of an Islamic bank is derived by deducting the operating expenses from the total profit. Zakat and company income tax will then be paid on the net profit.
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CHAPTER 2

ANALYSING BANK PERFORMANCE FROM
FINANCIAL PERSPECTIVE



CHAPTER OVERVIEW


Management and shareholders analyse a bank’s performance to evaluate the bank’s achievement against its set target. It is one of the tools used to guide management to evaluate if the strategies implemented are effective, or need review. A bank’s performance can be evaluated from many perspectives, including the most important - its financial performance. In the context of this module, the emphasis is on analysing bank performance from the financial perspective to cater to the needs of various stakeholders or users of the Islamic bank’s financial statements.

Performance evaluation has transformed to become a powerful tool that influences the operations of both internal as well as the external parties of a bank. These parties comprise an extensive array of individuals, groups, organisations, etc. that range from depositors, investors, shareholders, sukuk-holders to competitors, market analysts, regulators, credit rating agencies, etc.

The two-fold purpose of analysing financial performance is to estimate the future direction of the bank while evaluating the past and current trends of the same. It is assessed through the data available in the financial statements of a bank and is calculated through the means of ratio analysis. Islamic banks require a distinct analytical approach to assess its financial statements, that addresses risks unique to the activities of Islamic banks, which vary from those undertaken by manufacturing companies, other service-providing companies, and other financial institutions.

In summary, financial statements inform the readers (to the extent of the information disclosed) of the overall picture of a bank’s operations presented in monetary terms, and the business achievements for various segments, and products offered.






 TOPIC 2.1: FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF ISLAMIC BANKS

Islamic banks are financial intermediaries between various sources of funds and users of funds through the pooling of deposits from the former to fund the latter, while tackling the risks of financing. Islamic banking directs cash sourced from depositors, investors1, to finance its clients. The remaining surplus is invested in Shariah-compliant securities at a return that is expected to be higher than the sum of the cost of capital and the return paid to the depositors. Thus, profits entail the positive difference between the return received on financing and investment and the rate paid to the sources of funds.

As in the case of commercial enterprises, accounting plays a vital role in providing information required to make adequate business decisions for Islamic banks. The relevant financial information is communicated in a structured form to its relevant users through the means of financial statements.

The reports that entail financial statements are:

• Balance sheet

• Income statement

• Statement of cashflows

• Statement of changes in equity

• Additional disclosures in the notes to the financial statements

The preparation of financial statements for Islamic banks in Malaysia are guided by the relevant regulatory guidelines issued by Bank Negara Malaysia (BNM).


According to Bank Negara Malaysia’s (BNM) policy document (BNM/RH/STD 032-5) on Financial Reporting:2

8.1. Pursuant to Section 65 of the Financial Services Act 2013 (FSA), a financial institution shall ensure that it prepares its financial statements in accordance with the Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards (MFRS), subject to the requirements specified in paragraphs 9.1 to 9.5, and shall disclose a statement to that effect in the financial statements.

8.2. The board of directors is responsible for ensuring that the financial statements are drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs and of the results of the business of the financial institution. This is consistent with the fiduciary and statutory duties placed on the members of the board of directors as persons responsible for managing the affairs of the financial institution. Hence, the board shall be satisfied that a sound financial reporting structure is in place to ensure the integrity and credibility of the financial statements.

10.3. A financial institution shall comply with the following key principles on disclosure of information:

i. Information should be timely and up-to-date, to avoid undue delays in disclosure which may affect the relevance of the information being disclosed;

ii. The scope and content of information disclosed and the level of disaggregation and detail should be sufficient to provide comprehensive, meaningful and relevant information to the users;

iii. Adequate disclosures should be provided on areas of uncertainty, in particular information on key estimates and if sensitivity analysis is used, a discussion on the assumptions and the probabilities of the occurrence of various scenarios; and

iv. Disclosures should allow comparisons over time and among institutions.

12.1. Within three months after the close of each financial year and before the laying of the financial statements at the general meeting, a licensed person is required to submit to BNM as the case may be, the following:

i. Its annual audited financial statements;

ii. The audited financial statements of its principal subsidiaries, where relevant;

iii. Its Auditor’s Report, including a report on the key accounting and auditing matters tabled to the board audit committee;

iv. The analysis of performance by key business segments;



The purpose of preparing the financial statements are:

i) To ascertain the impact of an entity’s activities: the income statement aids in communicating the performance of an enterprise’s operations, in terms of the profits earned or losses incurred, during a particular period of time.

ii) To ascertain the financial position of the entity: the balance sheet helps to show the financial position of the business on a particular date which is typically the last date of the accounting year.

iii) To communicate relevant information: the financial statements are an important source of information that aids in the managerial decision-making process and directing financial activities of the business such as proper utilisation of funds.

iv) To provide an index of solvency for the entity: financial statements also function as an indicator of, both in the short term as well as the long term, the solvency of an entity by disclosing its financial position to pay off its debts.

The balance sheet, income statement, and statement of cashflows form the core foundation of the financial statements that are discussed further.




The Balance Sheet

The balance sheet or statement of financial position is a snapshot of a bank’s assets, liabilities and shareholders’ equities at a particular point in time. It is a comparison of what the bank possesses against the obligations it owes along with the ownership interest of the stockholders, whereby both sides balance out. This is intuitive since the bank pays for all the things it owns i.e. the assets, through deposits that form liabilities or the issued capital of the investors. Thus, the balance sheet adheres to the equation:

ASSETS = LIABILITIES + SHAREHOLDER’S EQUITY

In the above equation,

• Assets represent all that is owned by the bank

• Liabilities represent what the bank owes

• Equity amounts to the stockholder’s ownership

Correspondingly, balance sheet liabilities address the formation of funds while the assets convey the mode of its utilisation. Since all assets have their sources, logically, both sides of the balance sheet assets must amount to be equal. Since these accounts vary in its implications from one industry to another, the balance sheet of Islamic banks differs from that of production and trading enterprises with regards to the structure of its components.

A bank’s balance sheet, therefore, provides premises to assess the liquidity of the bank as it imparts to its users, the capacity of the bank to match its due receivables to its pending payments. The following figures (Figure 1 to 4) display the balance sheet of Bank Islam and CIMB Islamic Bank and their balance sheet equations, respectively.

[image: ]

Figure 2: Balance Sheet of Bank Islam
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Figure 3: Balance Sheet of CIMB Islamic Bank
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Figure 4: Balance Sheet Equation of Bank Islam
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Figure 5: Balance Sheet Equation of CIMB Islamic Bank

From the balance sheets of the selected banks, we can see that both Bank Islam and CIMB Islamic have grown in size. Total assets of Bank Islam have shown a slight increase from RM 55.9 billion in 2016 to RM 57.8 billion in 2017. Notably, the total assets of CIMB Islamic have grown significantly from RM 66.6 Billion to RM 85.3 billion in the same period. This growth in CIMB Islamic has been funded mainly from the RM 12.0 billion increase in “deposits from customers” and RM 4.2 billion increase in “investment accounts due to designated financial institutions”. This increase in funds have been channelled mainly to the RM 10.4 billion increase in financing and RM 6.0 billion increase in cash and short-term funds.




Bank Assets

Assets are usually listed in the order of their liquidity. The assets are distinguished on the basis of its capacity to yield and risk factors into five types: cash and short-term funds, investment securities, financing, fixed assets, and other assets. The following figures (Figures 6 and 7) display the categories of the assets of Bank Islam and CIMB Islamic Bank, respectively.
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Figure 6: Categories of the Assets of Bank Islam
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Figure 7: Categories of the Assets of CIMB Islamic Bank

The categories of the assets of Islamic banks are explained further:

a. Cash and Short-Term Funds

Cash and short-term funds consist of cash available in the banks’ vault, deposits held at the central bank, deposits held at other financial institutions and cheques in the process of clearing. These are funds that are available for the immediate disposal of the bank to meet its liquidity requirements. These funds form the primary layer that addresses the withdrawal demands of depositors and the immediate financing funds approved to the clients. Bank Islam has RM4.2 billion in cash and short-term funds and CIMB Islamic Bank has RM14.3 billion in cash and short-term funds.

The cash and other short-term funds facilitate cheque clearance of customers, currency withdrawals, and legal reserve requirements. These assets do not earn any returns (in general), which distinguishes them from the others. However, the balance accounts of the bank held at the central bank and other depository institutions can be subjected to use in return for corresponding banking services. For example, the Islamic bank might have a free-interest account with a conventional bank without getting any return on this account, however, it might get some banking services from the conventional bank.

b. Investment Securities

Investment securities are securities held by the bank for its returns to meet its liquidity needs. Securities that mature within 12 months are called short-term securities. These can be easily liquidated by the bank and cannot be pledged as a collateral against liability. On the other hand, long-term securities are those with longer maturity periods that may extend to thirty years.

Securities are reported on the basis of the intention behind its purchase and are accordingly categorised as per the table below:



	Securities category
	Description
	Treatment of gains /losses



	Held-for-trading
	A security that investors purchase with the intent of selling within a short period of time, usually less than one year. It is recorded at their market price on the balance sheet.
	Unrealised gains or losses are recorded in the income statement.



	Available-for-sale
	A security purchased with the intent of selling before it reaches maturity or holding it for a long period should it not have a maturity date. Recorded at its current market value.
	Unrealised gains or losses are included as a component of the capital.



	Held-for-maturity
	A security that is purchased to be owned until maturity. It is valued at its historical, amortised cost on the balance sheet.
	Gains or losses are only recognised when the bank realises them. Thus, the unrealised gains or losses do not have any financial impact with the change in the interest rate.




The objective of reporting securities amongst others is to disclose information to regulators, analysts, and investors regarding the market value of securities in case the bank chooses to sell them off prior to their maturity.

The following figures (Figure 8 and 9) display the categories of investment securities held by Bank Islam and CIMB Islamic Bank, respectively.
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Figure 8: Types of Investment Securities of Bank Islam
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Figure 9: Types of Investment Securities of CIMB Islamic Bank

The exhibits show that most of investment securites of Bank Islam are “financial assets available-for-sale”. However, in CIMB Islamic Bank, the invesmtent securities are distributed among the three categories, and the increase in investment securities in 2017 is also in the three categories.


Suggested activity

What could be the reason behind the above scenario?

Tentative answer: As stated in the Notes to the Financial Statements of CIMB Islamic:

“Given the long-term nature of the holdings, the Group reclassified previously held financial investments available-to-sale to financial investments held-to-maturity as part of the Group’s Asset Liability Management. It reflects the Group’s positive intent and ability to hold them until maturity.”



c. Financing

Islamic banks act as an enabler for businesses and individuals alike, by extending financial facilities to serve the needs of the community. The financing and advances facilitated to the customers form the most important element of the assets of an Islamic bank.

These account for a major portion of the total assets of the bank as it is the primary earning asset of Islamic banks. These claims attribute to a higher probability of default in comparison to the other categories of assets and cannot be liquidated before its maturity. Financings advanced are accounted at the nominal value of the outstanding principal amount.

Although financings earn the highest yield before expenses, they are subjected to the higher levels of risk, default rates, capital cost and cost of administration. Islamic banks, as a result, maintain a reserve to cover for anticipated losses. This account is presented on the balance sheet as a contra asset account to total financing.

Financings are distinguished on the basis of the underlying Shariah contracts, use of proceeds, the type of customer, the geographical distribution, the industry and on the remaining period for contract’s maturity.

On the basis of Shariah contracts, most financing contracts are either sale-based contracts or lease-based.

• Banks may use murabaha, bay’ bithaman ajil, bay’ al-dayn, tawarruq and istisna’ for sale based finances.

• While for leased based contracts, ijarah muntahiah bi al-tamlik and ijarah thumma al-bay’ are practiced. In addition to the mentioned contracts, banks may also employ contracts based on qard, ar-rahnu, and ujrah.

On the basis of the types of users or customers, finances are distinguished as advances proceeded to individuals, business enterprises and government and statutory bodies. Individual financing includes that of home, automobile, personal financing and credit card facilities. For business enterprises, the financings appear in numerous forms, primarily to meet the working capital requirement or expenditures of establishing new plants and equipment.

The financing and advances distinguished on the basis of types and the underlying Shariah contracts by Bank Islam and CIMB Islamic Bank are as follows:
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Figure 10: Financing, Advances, and Others based on types and Shariah Contract of Bank Islam
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Figure 11: Financing, Advances, and Others based on types and Shariah Contract of CIMB Islamic Bank

Notably, home financing contributes significantly to the financing portfolio in both banks, specifically it is 36% in Bank Islam and 26% in CIMB Islamic Bank.

d. Fixed Assets

All properties held by the bank, through lease or ownership, are reported under Fixed Assets. These are either accounted at the historical cost, or at the revised market value that prevails at the time of the statement after deducting depreciation and amortisation. All tangible fixed assets such as fixtures, equipment, motor vehicles, etc. are depreciated or amortised.

e. Other Assets

These are assets that generally do not earn any income and often exists in relatively smaller magnitudes. For example, banks are obligated to direct a certain portion of its funds to required reserves maintained in the accounts at the central bank. The rate and calculations of the required reserves are determined by the central bank and may be subject to the total deposit, part deposit or categories that arise from other liabilities. In Malaysia, this is termed as the Statutory Reserve Requirement (SRR) Ratio and has most recently been set at 3.5% in July 2018.




Bank Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity

The liability side of the balance sheet consists of the total liabilities of the bank along with equity ownership of stockholders. Liabilities are the obligations due for payment by the bank, that are the result of acquired economic benefits which require an outflow of cash to fulfill settlement. The position of these liabilities is identified in the balance sheet at par value with respect to the degree of its maturity.

Liabilities range from deposits accepted by the banks from individuals, other banks and money markets to borrowings, bills and other securities, provisions, etc. The various types of liabilities realised are explained further.
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Figure 12: Categories of the Liabilities of Bank Islam
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Figure 13: Categories of the Liabilities of CIMB Islamic Bank

a. Bank Deposits

Bank deposits consist of the money placed by various customers at the bank for the purpose of safekeeping. The account of the customer becomes a liability to the bank the moment the former surrenders the legal title to the funds deposited, to the bank. Bank deposits are of various types and each of them is governed by the terms and conditions as per the account agreement.

i. Demand Deposits

Demand deposits or current deposits are commonly structured on the principles of wadiah yad dhamanah and qard contracts. Also referred to as relationship accounts, the purpose of these accounts is to provide depositors the convenience in facilitating various transactions. The demand deposit holders can withdraw the money whenever required upon demand through the transfer of funds or through clearance of cheques; withdrawals through debit cards, etc.

Demand deposits provide liquidity to the bank thus enabling them to tackle large-scale deposit withdrawals.

ii. Saving Deposits

Based on the Shariah contracts of qard and wadiah yad dhamanah, saving deposits provide customers the option to safe keep their funds with Islamic banks, that can be withdrawn at any time based on the needs of the customers. The features of saving deposits are very similar to that of the demand deposits except for some aspects like the unconditional hibah (monetary gift) that might be granted for saving deposit accounts only at the full discretion of the Islamic bank and without any promise from the bank to give such hibah or determine its amount.

iii. Term Deposits

A term deposit is an account wherein funds from the customers are held for a fixed period of time by the bank in exchange for the payment of higher returns. These accounts constitute a major portion of the bank’s liabilities. Since the holders of term deposits are more sensitive to the change in rates than the holders of the other deposit accounts; banks face the challenge of continuously generating higher profits to be shared with the holders of term deposit accounts.

The structures used to provide term deposits vary from one bank to another; however, most of the term deposits provided by Islamic banks in Malaysia are based on the tawarruq contract.

Another type of term deposit issued by Islamic banks is the Negotiable Islamic Debt Certificates (NIDC) based on the principles of Tawarruq or Bay’ Inah. It is a certificate of debt, negotiated at the time of issuance by the bank, for a fixed period of time wherein the rate of return offered over the period of investment remains fixed. Although this certificate is issued by the bank, early withdrawal is not allowed. For liquidation purpose, customer may sell the certificate of NIDC in secondary market. In general, this product targets big amount. For example, in Bank Muamalat the minimum of deposit amount is RM 60,000.3




b. Deposit of Banks and other Financial Institutions

Deposit of banks and other financial institutions refer to the short-term deposits, with a maturity period of less than one year, of banks and other financial institutions placed in Islamic banks. This is usually operated through the Islamic money market.

c. Restricted Profit Sharing Investment Accounts (RPSIA)

RPSIAs are investments made by financial institutions or customers at Islamic Banks to finance specific projects.




Based on the mudharabah contract; wherein two parties, namely the investor and entrepreneur, enter into a contract to finance a business venture whereby the investor provides capital and the entrepreneur provides his services to manage the venture. The profit generated from the venture is shared based on a pre-determined ratio by both parties while all financial losses is borned solely by the investor.

d. Islamic Derivative Financial Liability

Islamic derivatives are Shariah-compliant financial securities, whose monetary worth is dependent on the value of its underlying assets. These include foreign exchange derivatives (currency forwards, currency swaps and currency options); profit rate derivatives (Islamic profit rate swaps) and others (equity options, total return swaps).

Islamic derivative financial instruments are generally classified into trading derivatives and financial instruments held for hedging purposes, based on the intent of its utilisation.

e. Subordinated Sukuk

Subordinated sukuk are debt-based securities, whose holders’ claims for the payment of profit and the repayment of principal rank secondary to another class of debtors i.e. depositors. These are long-term securities that enable banks to meet its regulatory Tier 2 capital requirements for the computation of total capitalisation ratio.

f. Other Liabilities

The other liabilities of Islamic banks that appear on the balance sheet ranges from bills, accruals and accepted payables to zakat and taxation. It also includes financial instruments used by Islamic banks specifically to obtain short-term funding from the central bank to settle temporary liquidity shortage due to internal or external disruptions.

g. Shareholders’ Equity

The final element on the liabilities side of the balance sheet is the capital. It represents the interest of the owners of the bank; both the common as well as the preferred stock at its par value along with the reserves.

In literature, the term capital is often used in reference of primary capital, i.e. the net value of assets obtained from the difference in value of total assets and liabilities. The total value of a bank’s assets must always exceed the value of capital. It is often used as a tool to measure the solvency of the bank.

Capital is formed through the issuance and sale of shares, accumulation of income and establishment of reserves from profit. Core capital specifically comprises capital that is obtained through the issuance and sales of shares. Its value is determined by multiplying the number of shares sold to its nominal value.

In general, there are two types of shares: ordinary shares and prererred shares. Preferred shares rank in priority to the ordinary shares in case of solvency. They receive fixed dividends and don’t have voting rights. Ordinary shares have voting rights. They are also entitled to receive dividends if any are available after the company pays dividends on preferred shares. They are also entitled to their share of the residual economic value of the company should the business unwind4.

• For example, CIMB Islamic Bank has issued preference shares. Each preference share shall, in a case of winding-up (i.e. dissolving the bank) or other return of capital, confer on its holder the right to receive, in priority to the holders of ordinary shares, the cash repayment in full which consist of the nominal amount and the premium payable of that preference share. This will happen only after paying and discharching of all debts and liabilities of the bank and paying the costs of winding up or any other capital reduction exercise.

• A preference share may not entitle its holder to participate in the surplus assets and profits of the bank beyond such redemption rights. However, the bank may declare dividends on any of the preference shares.

Earnings that have been retained, from the beginning of the firm’s operations, through the accumulation of income, post payment of cash dividends to the stockholders, form the reserves. Islamic banks maintain reserves for numerous reasons such as:

• To comply with the requirements laid down by the central bank.

• To increase the capacity of the bank to absorb credit risk.

• To tap the changes in valuation of assets such as the fair value which includes the cumulative net change in the fair value of financial assets available-for-sale, excluding impairment losses, until the financial asset is derecognised.

 The Income Statement

The income statement is a financial statement that exhibits the performance of an Islamic Bank during a specific period of time. It communicates the net profit or loss recognised by the bank after the deduction of income attributable to the depositors, overhead expenses, tax payable and zakat from the revenue derived from its investments. In order to calculate the total income, the cost of investing funds and allowances for losses incurred on financing and investments should be deducted from the total revenue earned by the banks. Thus, the income statement reflects the efficiency of an Islamic bank in its role as a financial intermediary.

The following exhibits display the income statements of Bank Islam and CIMB Islamic Bank and their respective income by categories.
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Figure 14: Income Statement of Bank Islam
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Figure 15: Income Statement of CIMB Islamic Bank
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Figure 16: Categories of Income of Bank Islam
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Figure 17: Categories of Income of CIMB Islamic Bank




Components of an Income Statement

Income Derived from the Investment of Funds:

The three main sources of funds are the depositors’ funds, investment account funds and shareholders’ funds. The income derived from each of the mentioned sources are explained further:

a. Income derived from investment of depositors’ funds:

Income derived from general investment deposits, term deposits, demand deposits/savings and other forms of deposits. While Islamic banks primarily mobilise these funds to finance its customers; parts of these funds are also deposited in other banks or invested in financial assets.

b. Income derived from investment account funds:

Income derived from funds invested in Unrestricted Investment Accounts. These accounts are based on mudharabah and wakalah contracts.

c. Income derived from investment of shareholders’ fund:

Parts of shareholders’ fund are invested in financial assets (usually short-term financial instruments) that generate income for Islamic banks.

d. Income derived from other sources:

Islamic banks also earn additional income through other mediums, such as foreign exchange transactions and other non-financing income sources by the likes of fees, commissions, etc. Non-financing income is the revenue generated by banks upon the services they provide to the customers such as cheque processing fee, financing fee, mobile banking fees, etc. Since early 1980s, the banking industry has focused on increasing non-financing income as an alternative source of earning. As a result, service charges and fees have gradually increased overtime.




Allowances for Losses (Impairment) on Finances and Investments

Allowances for losses are the provisions created to curb the potential financial losses estimated by the bank on their financing products and investments. These are non-cash expenses that indicate the management’s estimation of potential losses. The amount set aside as provisions is deducted from the income and transferred to the bank’s financing loss reserve. Thus, an increase in the amount allocated as provision reduces the net income reported by the bank.

Banks could understate their potential losses, enabling them to overstate their net income. However, they would eventually be forced to raise the levels of provisions and as a result, admit to overstating the incomes reported in the past.

The total income available for distribution after the deduction of provisions is reported in the income statements.

Income Due to Depositors and Investment Account Holders

This is the income due for distribution, to the three sources of funds; namely the depositors, the investment account holders and the shareholders. The income due to the depositors and investment account holders are deducted from the total revenue earned, to calculate the net income.
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Source: Maybank Islamic Financial Statements (2017)

Overhead Expenses

Overhead expenses constitute of costs incurred on personnel, occupancy, depreciation of property and equipment, information technology, marketing, etc.

Often times, the non-financing income earned by banks falls short to the overhead expenses incurred by the bank resulting in further liabilities. Banks can increase its profit margin by increasing its service charges and controlling its unit-operating costs. For example, tapping on available technology to cater to a larger customer base could save a bank from the overhead expenses incurred from operating a branch office.

In the case of Islamic banks that are subsidiaries of conventional banks, both parties have access to the same resources. Thus, they share the costs of utilising these resources. Therefore, shared service cost is a significant item in the income statement of the Islamic subsidiary.

Taxation and Zakat

In Malaysia, the corporate tax for Islamic banks is calculated at the rate of 24% of total profits before tax and zakat. This amount is adjusted to the income not subject to tax; the expenses not deductible for tax purposes and over/under provision set in the prior year.

The calculated figures of tax and zakat are succeeded by the amount of profit recognised for that year.

The net profit earned by the banks are vital for shareholders since the earnings per share is derived from the same:
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Other incomes earned, such as net change in fair value reserves, must also be accounted for in the calculation of profit for the year.

Cashflow Statement

The cashflow statement illustrates the movement of cash in a business during a given period of time. It summarises the impact of various banking operations on the cash and cash equivalents held by the bank at that specified period of time.

Cashflows are a result of operating activities, financing activities or the investment activities undertaken by the bank. Movement of cash that results from changes in capital structure or subordinate liabilities are a result of the bank’s financing activities, while cashflows from investing activities arise from transactions to realise future earnings. Cashflows that arise out of the payment and receipt of fees, profits, return deposits, and expenses are a result of the operating activities.




TEST YOUR UNDERSTANDING


1. The purpose of preparing a financial statements is:

a. To ascertain the impact of an entity’s activities.

b. To communicate relevant information.

c. To provide an index of solvency for the entity.

d. All of the above.




2. Investment securities are considered:

a. Assets.

b. Liabilities.

c. Shareholder’s equity.

d. Depends on its type.




3. Which of these categories constitutes the majority of bank’s assets?

a. Property and land.

b. Cash.

c. Financing.

d. Paid capital.

4. In an Islamic bank’s financial statement, zakat is found in:

a. Balance sheet.

b. Income statement.

c. Shareholder’s equity.

d. All of the above.

5. Which of these is NOT found in preferred shares?

a. Voting right.

b. Priority in payment of dividends.

c. Pre-agreed dividends.

d. Priority in proceeds of liquidation.

Review questions:

1. Compare between: a) held-for-trading, b) available-for-sale and c) held-for-maturity securities in terms of the purpose of each of them, and how they are recorded in the balance sheet.

2. What is a Restricted Profit-Sharing Investment Account (RPSIA)?

3. What are the differences between demand deposits, savings deposits and term deposits in terms of their definition and the underlying Shariah contract for each of them?

4. What are the four categories of income that are classified in the income statement?

5. Define subordinated sukuk and mention where exactly they are classified in the financial statement.

Answer: 1- D 2- A 3- C 4- B 5- A






 TOPIC 2.2: ANALYSING BANK PROFITABILITY: THE ROE MODEL

Return on Equity (ROE)

Return on equity (ROE) is a measurement of profitability that helps to identify the percentage of profit generated on each unit of shareholders’ equity. It measures the income earned by the shareholder on every Ringgit invested in the company or in this context, the Islamic bank, for one year.
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The ROE model is a popular approach adopted by banks to analyse their financial health. It combines the figures reported in both the balance sheet and the income statement of the business. The ROE model aids analysts to observe the bank’s performance over a series of years and also to compare its performance with its competitor’s in a given year.




The Return on Equity Model / DuPont Framework

The DuPont Framework is a systematic approach that identifies factors that influence ROE to deviate. It is a technique used to determine the strengths and weaknesses of the business and its subsequent impact on ROE.

The DuPont analysis identifies profitability, operating efficiency and financial leverage as the three major factors that influence the returns earned on equity.

• Profitability is the measurement of the income earned on each Dollar of its sales.

• Operating efficiency computes the turnover on assets.

• Financial leverage measures the dependency of the business on borrowed funds against invested funds.

According to the DuPont analysis:

ROE = (Profitability) * (Operating Efficiency) * (Financial Leverage)

where :
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Thus, analysts can identify the components that most cater to the variations in ROE using the DuPont Framework.

During the analysis if issues in the computation of any of the ROE components were to arise, the use of additional ratios in each area could shed more light on the exact nature of the problem.

Return on Equity & Return on Assets

A bank’s profitability is evaluated in terms of their ROE and return on assets (ROA). While ROE measures the return earned on each Ringgit of shareholders’ equity, ROA measures the profitability of the company’s assets in generating revenue. A bank is described as a high performing bank when its reported ROA and ROE are consistently higher than the industry average.

According to the ROE Model, ROA and financial leverage together constitute the core components of ROE:
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The first half of the above equation measures the income generated by the bank’s assets, or the ROA, while the second half measures the financial leverage of the bank, which is the equity multiplier, (EM). A higher EM indicates that a larger portion of assets are financed through debts. Financial leverage works both ways; it works to the bank’s advantage when earnings are positive but also accentuates the negative impact in case of losses.




Three practice exercises/case study on analysing financial statements and ROE:

Horizontal analysis for CIMB Islamic Bank



	Key Performance Indicators (RM’000)
	Year 2017
	% in 2017
	Year 2016
	% in 2016



	Total Assets
	85,277,423
	27.95%
	66,646,856
	22.16%



	Total Liabilities
	80,481,708
	28.78%
	62,496,716
	22.66%



	Shareholders’ Equity
	4,795,715
	15.56%
	4,150,140
	15.09%



	Total Customer Deposit
	64,910,083
	22.86%
	52,833,806
	19.40%



	Customer’s Investment Account
	907,763
	256.81%
	254,408
	9.32%



	Islamic Derivative Financial Instruments
	692,759
	-29.24%
	979,011
	67.05%



	Total Financing
	57,551,408
	22.00%
	47,172,873
	16.98%



	Total Other Assets
	3,556,010
	2.70%
	3,462,670
	50.91%



	Investment in Securities
	9,881,124
	28.55%
	7,686,336
	22.34%



	Total Net Income
	1,355,173
	12.20%
	1,207,835
	14.91%



	Total Distributable Income
	3,416,423
	18.35%
	2,886,797
	13.94%



	Profit After Taxation and Zakat
	640,565
	17.92%
	543,201
	34.45%



	Total Overhead Expenses
	542,064
	12.12%
	483,450
	-5.14%







Vertical analysis for CIMB Islamic Bank

Assets:



	Key Performance Indicators (RM’000)
	Year 2017
	% in 2017
	% Year 2016
	in 2016



	Cash and short-term funds
	14,282,850
	16.75%
	8,315,396
	12.48%



	Investment Securities
	9,881,124
	11.59%
	7,686,336
	11.53%



	Property, Plant and Equipment
	6,031
	0.01%
	9,581
	0.01%



	Total Financing
	57,551,408
	67.49%
	47,172,873
	70.78%



	Total Other Assets
	3,556,010
	4.17%
	3,462,670
	5.20%







Liabilities



	Key Performance Indicators (RM’000)
	Year 2017
	% in 2017
	% Year 2016
	in 2016



	Total Bank Deposit
	64,910,083
	80.65%
	52,833,806
	84.54%



	Investment Accounts of Customers
	907,763
	1.13%
	254,408
	0.41%



	Deposits of banks & financial institutions
	2,160,415
	2.68%
	1,232,801
	1.97%



	Investment Accounts due to Designated Financial Institutions
	8,145,684
	10.12%
	3,912,011
	6.26%



	Derivative Financial Instruments
	692,759
	0.86%
	979,011
	1.57%



	Subordinated Sukuk
	615,006
	0.76%
	617,563
	0.99%



	Total Other Liabilities
	3,049,998
	3.79%
	2,667,116
	4.27%







Equity



	Key Performance Indicators (RM’000)
	Year 2017
	% in 2017
	% Year 2016
	in 2016



	Preference Shares
	220,000
	4.59%
	220,000
	5.3%



	Ordinary Share Capital
	1,000,000
	20.85%
	1,000,000
	24.10%



	Reserves
	3,575,715
	74.56%
	2,930,140
	70.60%







ROE Analysis
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Average total assets = (85,277,423 + 66,646,856)/2 = RM75,962,139.50

Return on Assets (2017) = 640,565/75,962,139.5 = 0.843%
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Average total equity = (4,795,715 + 4,150,140)/2 = RM4,472,928

Equity Multiplier = 75,962,139.5/4,472,928 = 16.98




ROE Model:

ROE = Return on Assets * Equity Multiplier

ROE = 0.843% * 16.98 = 14.32%

TEST YOUR UNDERSTANDING


1. ROE is a measure of:

a. Liquidity.

b. Stability.

c. Profitability.

d. Capital adequacy.

2. DuPont analysis is:

a. A systematic approach that identifies factors that influence ROE to deviate.

b. A technique used to determine the strengths and weaknesses of the business and its subsequent impact on ROE.

c. ROE = (Profitability) * (Operating Efficiency) * (Financial Leverage).

d. All of the above.

3. Which of these is NOT correct:

a. ROE = ROA * Equity multiplier.

b. ROE = Operating Profit/Equity.

c. ROA = Net income/Average total assets.

d. Equity multiplier = Average total assets/Average total equity.

Review questions:

1. Differentiate between ROA and ROE.

2. What is the DuPoint analysis?

3. What does a high equity multiplier mean for an Islamic bank?

4. Mention two ways for increasing an Islamic bank’s ROE

Answer: 1- C 2- D 3- B






Exercise

Repeat the analysis using data from Bank Islam:

Horizontal analysis for Bank Islam



	Key Performance Indicators (RM’000)
	Year 2017
	% in 2017
	Year 2016
	% in 2016



	Total Assets
	57,750,240
	3.71%
	55,683,301
	11.89%



	Total Liabilities
	52,790,734
	2.91%
	51,297,346
	12.16%



	Shareholders’ Equity
	4,959,506
	13.08%
	4,385,955
	8.75%



	Total Customer Deposit
	46,209,028
	0.56%
	45,949,715
	5.40%



	Customer’s Investment Account
	4,260,185
	11.75%
	3,812,261
	463.86%



	Islamic Derivative Financial Instruments
	74,668
	-32.79%
	111,089
	9.00%



	Total Financing
	42,113,420
	7.46%
	39,189,274
	14.27%



	Total Other Assets
	1,651,215
	-6.24%
	1,761,016
	-10.62%



	Investment in Securities
	9,628,804
	-9.04%
	10,585,196
	1.62%



	Total Net Income
	1,783,486
	8.79%
	1,639,422
	8.35%



	Total Distributable Income
	2,742,350
	7.77%
	2,544,572
	0.44%



	Profit After Taxation and Zakat
	720,412
	5.07%
	685,661
	26.63%



	Total Overhead Expenses
	1,017,377
	10.71%
	918,981
	11.00%







Vertical analysis for Bank Islam

Assets



	Key Performance Indicators (RM’000)
	Year 2017
	in 2017
	Year 2016
	in 2016



	Cash and short-term funds
	4,185,561
	7.25%
	3,963,268
	7.12%



	Investment Securities
	9,628,804
	16.67%
	10,585,196
	19.01%



	Property, Plant and Equipment
	171,240
	0.30%
	184,547
	0.33%



	Total Financing
	42,113,420
	72.92%
	39,189,274
	70.38%



	Total Other Assets
	1,651,215
	2.86%
	1,761,016
	3.16%







Liabilities



	Key Performance Indicators (RM’000)
	Year 2017
	in 2017
	Year 2016
	in 2016



	Total Bank Deposit
	46,209,028
	87.53%
	45,949,715
	89.58%



	Investment Accounts of Customers
	4,260,185
	8.07%
	3,812,261
	7.43%



	Deposits of Banks & Financial Institutions
	-
	0.00%
	30,000
	0.06%



	Investment Accounts due to Designated Financial Institutions
	-
	0.00%
	-
	0.00%



	Derivative Financial Instruments
	74,668
	0.14%
	111,089
	0.22%



	Subordinated Sukuk
	1,006,486
	1.91%
	704,393
	1.37%



	Total Other Liabilities
	1,240,367
	2.35%
	689,888
	1.34%







Equity



	Key Performance Indicators (RM’000)
	Year 2017
	in 2017
	Year 2016
	in 2016



	Preference Shares
	-
	0.00%
	-
	0.00%



	Ordinary Share Capital
	2,869,498
	57.86%
	2,404,384
	54.82%



	Reserves
	2,090,008
	42.14%
	1,981,571
	45.18%







ROE Analysis
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Return on Assets (2017) = 1.27%
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Equity Multiplier = 12.14

ROE Model:

ROE = Return on Assets * Equity Multiplier

ROE = 1.27% * 12.14 = 15.42

 TOPIC 2.3: CAMELS RATING

In order to maintain the stability of the financial system, bank regulations are largely designed to control the risks undertaken by both Islamic and conventional commercial banks. The quality of assets, mismatched maturities of assets and liabilities, and internal operating controls of banks are routinely examined to ensure that the banks haven’t assumed too much risk. Banks are required to raise additional equity in case they are found to have assumed too much risk.

Regulators utilise the CAMELS rating system to assess the quality of a bank’s earnings and risk management practices. CAMELS is used to arrive at the composite risk rating of a bank. The rating system was adopted by Bank Negara Malaysia (BNM) to supervise and regulate operations conducted by banks to ensure that they do not indulge in high risk portfolio investments that could lead to the collapse of the financial system. However, since 2010, BNM started adopting Supervisory Risk Assessment Framework (SuRF) instead.

BNM has adopted a Supervisory Risk-Based Framework (SuRF) to assess the safety and soundness of licensed FIs. This enables BNM to evaluate an institutions risk profile, quality of risk management processes, governance, compliance and financial condition. SuRF allows BNM to focus attention and efforts on areas or activities of higher risks. It also allows a consistent assessment of money laundering and terrosism financing ML/TF risks across various entities, including an assessment of the risks arising from all activities or entities within a financial group (subsidiaries and branches), both domestic and foreign5.

Since CAMELS is better covered in banking literature and is still used by many other jurisdictions, we will further elaborate it.

CAMELS is an acronym that stands for the factors upon which banks’ operations are rated on. These factors are explained further:
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Figure 18: Components of the CAMELS Rating System

C: Capital Adequacy

Capital is the basic financial requirement needed for the formation of a bank and for a bank to sustain its operations. Banks and other financial institutions are required to hold capital sufficient to support their high-risk assets. Capital adequacy is a measurement of the financial strength of a bank to shield itself from large losses.

Regulators assess banks on their ability to maintain adequate capital, to the extent and type of risks undertaken by them; the effective management of risks; compliance to regulations pertaining to risk-based net worth requirements; the economic environment; and the loan or financing and investment concentration.

The Capital Adequacy Ratio (CAR) is an indicator of capital adequacy, introduced by the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision. It measures the total equity capital against the risk-weighted assets held by the bank. It is one of the most commonly used indicator by banks to determine its capital adequacy.


Exercise: Calculate Capital Adequacy Ratios

The risk-weighted assets (“RWA”) by each major risk category in CIMB Islamic Bank (2017) is as follows:



	Credit risk
	27,492,145



	Market risk
	629,312



	Operational risk
	2,371,656



	Total risk-weighted assets
	30,493,113




Common Equity Tier I, Additional Tier I and Tier II capitals are as follows:



	Common Equity Tier I capital
	4,050,518



	Total Tier I capital
	4,235,518



	Total capital
	4,966,964




all figures are in RM’000

Capital Adequacy Ratio = Total Risk-Weighted Assets divided by Capital



	Capital adequacy - Common equity tier 1 ratio
	13.283%



	Capital adequacy - Tier 1 ratio
	13.890%



	Capital adequacy - Total capital ratio
	16.289%









A: Asset Quality

Asset quality is an indicator of the trait of earning stream of a financial institution. It reflects the credit risk associated with the financial institution’s financing and investment portfolio, as well as its off-balance sheet activities. The overall asset quality is affected mainly by the quality of its financing portfolio and the credit administration and control programme. Financing typically forms the majority of an Islamic bank’s assets and carries the greatest amount of risk to its capital. Securities may also form a large portion of the assets and also contain significant risks. Other factors that can influence asset quality are real estate, off-balance sheet items, cash, dues from accounts, premises and fixed assets.

During the assessment of asset quality, regulators consider the sufficiency of the allowance for financing losses along with the exposure to counter-party, issuer, or debtor default. Other risks considered are operating, market, reputation, strategic, or compliance risks, since these can affect the value of an institution’s assets.

The asset quality indicators adopted by the central bank include:

• Financing Exposures or Concentration

• Non-performing loan (NPL) ratio: the proportion of non-performing loans to total outstanding loans

• Loan Loss Ratio: measurement of amount of loan loss against total outstanding loans

• Loan Loss Provision Ratio: ratio of loan loss provision against total assets

• Reserve Ratio: the proportion of reserves for bad debts to total outstanding loans




M: Management Quality

The purpose of assessing a bank’s management’s quality is to determine the ability of an institution to properly react to financial stress. The management of banks are expected to put in place policies and procedures that must effectively manage risks as well as controls to ensure efficient banking operations.

The quality of the board of directors, senior management, systems and procedures implemented are assessed by the asset quality.




E: Earnings

The volume, trend, quality and sustainability of earnings of banks are evaluated by regulators to determine its ability to create appropriate returns for expansion, retain competitiveness and add value to capital.

Thus, a bank’s growth, stability, valuation allowances, net financing margin, net worth and quality of existing assets are assessed.

The ROA, ROE and net financing margin are among the common profitability measurements used by Islamic banks to ascertain the quality of its earning.

The net financing margin is the measurement of financing income against average earning assets.

Net financing margin = (financing income – financing expenses) / average of earning assets




L: Liquidity

Liquidity is measured by the availability of liquid assets maintained or held by a bank. Maintaining sufficient liquidity is vital for banks to promote market confidence. Banks are assessed by regulators to ensure that their current and potential sources for liquidity and their existing fund management practices are sufficient.

Banking supervisors assess the banks on the basis of interest rate risk sensitivity, availability of liquid assets, dependency on short-term volatile resources and asset and liability management (ALM) technical competence.

Two of the most commonly used measurements to evaluate the liquidity of banks are:

• Loan to Deposit Ratio - measures the total loans financed by the banks against its total deposits;

• Liquid Asset Ratio - measures the proportion of liquid assets to total assets.

Similar to conventional banks, maintaining liquidity is crucial for Islamic banks to fulfil the needs of their depositors and investors. Therefore, Islamic banks ought to conduct effective asset-liability management to avoid facing a serious liquidity issue. When a bank is facing a tight liquidity issue, it has to stop its financing to customers which in turn will adversely affect the bank’s income earning potential.




S: Sensitivity

Exposures to different risks can have various impacts on banking institutions. Hence, Sensitivity covers how particular risk exposures can affect the bank. For instance, a bank’s sensitivity to market risk is examined by monitoring the management of credit concentrations. In this way, examiners are able to see how financing specific industries or specific financing products affects an institution, such as agricultural financing, energy sector financing, and credit card financing products. Moreover, exposures to foreign exchange, commodities, equities and derivatives are also included in rating the sensitivity of an Islamic bank to market risk.




Practice exercise/case study on analysing risk

The following table shows key indicators of CIMB Islamic Bank at 2017.

Calculate the CAMELS ratios discussed above using these information:



	Total assets
	85,277,423



	Equity
	4,795,715



	Profit after Zakat & Taxation
	639,821



	Total liabilities
	80,481,708



	Gross impaired financing
	381,870



	Gross financing
	57,551,408



	Total Deposit
	64,910,083




all figures are in RM’000

Solution:



	CAMELS
	2017



	Capital Adequacy (from the previous exercise)
	16.289%



	Asset Quality
	



	 Gross impaired financing ratio (Ratio of gross impaired financing to gross financing)
	0.66%



	Management Quality
	



	Earning Ability
	



	 ROA (net income/average total asset)
	0.842%



	 ROE (net income/average shareholders equity)
	14.304%



	Liquidity Level
	



	 Total Financing/Total Deposit
	88.66%



	 Total Financing/Total Assets
	67.49%




TEST YOUR UNDERSTANDING


1. Which of these are NOT included in the CAMELS rating framework?

a. Capital Adequacy.

b. Asset allocation.

c. Management quality.

d. Earnings.

2. Sensitivity:

a. Covers how particular risk exposures can affect the bank.

b. Analyses the bank’s reaction to market risk only.

c. Analyses the bank’s reaction to changes in regulations.

d. Covers interest rate risk only.

3. Which of these is used to evaluate liquidity in banks?

a. Loans/Deposit ratio.

b. ROA.

c. ROE.

d. Cash/Capital.

Review questions:

1. What are some unique risks faced by Islamic banks?

2. What are the components of the CAMELS rating system?

3. What is the meaning of asset quality?

Answer: 1- B 2- A 3- A



CHAPTER SUMMARY


In this chapter, we analysed the financial performance of Islamic banks. Audited financial statements are rich sources of information for managers and other stockholders. It enables them to evaluate the past performance, the current situation and to predict the future direction of the Islamic bank. We discussed the main financial statements of an Islamic bank (balance sheet, income statement and cash flow statement). The components and classifications of each statement were presented followed by examples from real cases.

Finally, as an application for the previous section of financial analysis, we analysed the bank’s profitability with a focus on the ROE model. The chapter highlighted the significance of these financial statements in presenting financial and non-financial information for the stakeholders of any bank, and as input for the financial analysis which is also a very important topic.
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CHAPTER 3

RISK ANALYSIS AND MANAGEMENT



CHAPTER OVERVIEW


Generally, for any business organisation, there exist two ways to obtain higher yields: by increasing its risk portfolio or lowering its operating costs. This stands true for Islamic banks as well.

Islamic banks deal with financial risks – those that arise from financing extended to customers; and business or capital risk – that impact the equity capital contributed by its shareholders.

When firms carry out operations at the risk of their capital, they expose it to the threat of decline. Similarly, the adoption of flawed business models or incompatible strategies can prove to be fatal to the market value of the common stock.

Capital is subject to changes when exposed to two types of risks – systematic and unsystematic risk.

• Systematic risk is the uncertainty inherent to the movement of market forces.

• Unsystematic risk is the unpredictability that results from factors specific or unique to the firm.

The profitability of an Islamic bank is highly dependent on the extent of risk present in its portfolio and operations. While some risk falls within the scope of control, others exist in the external environment like in the specific market served. Thus, analysing the performance of a bank becomes vital for the implementation of a risk management framework, in order to better comprehend the implication of the adopted strategy on the bank’s risk appetite.






 TOPIC 3.1: THE DEFINITION OF RISK MANAGEMENT

Risk management is the process of identifying, assessing, monitoring, and controlling risks associated with an Islamic bank’s activities. It equips Islamic banks to manage risk identified in the portfolio at the transactional level. Like most organisations, Islamic banks are also exposed to a variety of risks, such as: credit risk, interest rate risk, liquidity risk, and operational risks. However, there exists one type of risk that is unique to the Islamic finance industry, which is Shariah non-compliance risk, that needs to be addressed and managed accordingly.

 TOPIC 3.2: OBJECTIVES OF RISK MANAGEMENT

The purpose of forecasting, evaluating and managing risks are as follows:

1. To align a bank’s risk appetite with its strategies: Risk appetite is the extent of risk that can be undertaken by a bank at a broader range, in pursuit of its goals. The risk appetite of a bank is usually defined by the Board of Directors, ensuring its alignment with the established business model and strategies. Risk appetite is involved in the evaluation of various strategies, setting of objectives for selected strategies, and in the development of risk management mechanisms.

2. To commensurate growth and return to risk: Risk management enhances the ability to identify, examine and establish the threshold for acceptable risk that can be borne by the bank with respect to its growth and return objectives.

3. To enhance risk response options: Managing risk enhances the options available to the banks through development of alternative responses to various risks recognised, on the basis of generally accepted rules and methodologies.

4. To minimise operational surprises and subsequent losses: It aids in the identification and assessment of potential risks, which in turn reduce the occurrence of shocks and losses that result from the same.

5. To identify and manage cross-risk: Since every financial product comes with a myriad of risks, banks don’t only focus on mitigating individual risks but also manage inter-related impacts.

6. To provide integrated responses to multiple-risks: Through the risk management framework, banks could mitigate multiple risks together which would ensure greater efficiency in the business processes.

7. To rationalise capital: Banks can better assess the overall capital requirements and improve capital allocation by gathering robust information on the various risks that banks may need to confront in the future.




 TOPIC 3.3: RISK MANAGEMENT IN ISLAMIC BANKS

Risk Profile of an Islamic Bank

In Shariah, one of the underlying principles for conducting business and investment activities is the undertaking of risks to generate profits. The legal maxim “al-ghunm bi al-ghurm”, is roughly translated to “the generation of profit is pursued by elements of risk”.

The concept of risk management in Islam can be implied also from the verse 67 of Surah Yusuf regarding the wheat plantation planning for coming drought reasons, which is a form of risk management. There is also the well-known Hadith of Prophet Muhammad (PBUH) who had asked a Bedouin why he has left his camel untied, and the Bedouin replied, “I have put my trust in God.” The Prophet (PBUH) then said, “Tie up your camel first, then put your trust in God.” This Hadith connotes that one must mitigate risks before placing trust in Allah for its protection.

In any pursuit of return on business, there are bound to be risks. Risks must be taken into consideration based on the concept of the risk and reward ratio. Risk and expected return are positively correlated i.e. the higher the risk, the higher will be the expected return, and vice-versa. Thus to achieve a certain profitability level, certain risk elements must be considered and accepted as long as it is within the risk appetite of the business and the organisation. The essential feature of all Islamic banking services and products is the requirement to comply with Shariah principles and rules, especially the prohibitions of generating profits without bearing any risks.

Unlike conventional banks which provide deposit products and financing products all based on loan or borrowing contracts, Islamic banks may provide:

• Deposit products under the structure of contracts such as wadiah (safekeeping) or qard (interest-free loan),

• Investments under contracts such as musharakah or mudharabah (participatory or equity-like and profit sharing structures), or

• Financing products under contracts such as murabahah, tawarruq, ijarah, musharakah, or mudharabah (respectively sales, rental or participatory contracts).

For a sales contract, the bank will be exposed to volatility of price for re-sale as it involves inventory taking for future re-sale. The bank is also exposed also to market risk. For lease contracts, the bank may be exposed to the volatility of the market value of the leased asset.

In practice, banks use back-to-back agreements to ensure that the inventory exposures are nullified. However, the inventory exposures will still be applicable if the back-to-back arrangement fails.

In the absence of guaranteed principal or profit, al-bay’ (sale) provides for the element of fairness. All parties that seek to conduct business under the permissibility of Shariah must comply to this principle to ensure no one party gains at the expense of the other. Thus, Islamic banks as business organisations incur risks in the pursuit of profits.

In Islamic banking, the business risk borne by the bank, is the potential loss that arise out of trading positions, such as in sale and purchase; leasing or equity.

The assets involved are purchased and held by the banks before it is re-sold in the market. The value of these assets is accordingly subject to fluctuations. For example:

• An Islamic bank purchases an asset on cash basis to sell it to its customer in credit terms under murabahah.

• In ijarah, the bank purchases an asset with the intent of leasing it to a certain customer.

• In musharakah, banks purchase common stock with the intent to sell the same at a capital gain.

It is important to note that Islamic banks expose themselves to prevailing trading positions (i.e. entering into commercial transactions) only when there exists some certainty in acquiring profit. This is unlike the common practice that persists among retail and wholesale merchants, who have no guaranteed markets and thus, remain vulnerable to the market volatilities. Islamic banks, in general, face different types of risks, such as:

1. Credit risk

2. Liquidity risk

3. Operational risk

4. Shariah non-compliance risk

5. Market risk

6. Interest rate risk




Credit Risk in Islamic Banks

Credit risk is defined by the Islamic Financial Service Board (IFSB) as the risk of the counterparty failing to meet the contractual obligations as agreed upon by both parties. It is inclusive of the risk that arises out of settlement and clearing transactions.

Credit risk could be a result of the change in the credit quality of the counterparty that has resulted in the alteration of the value of the security or portfolio. It takes a substantial form when a client fails to fulfill payment obligations of the financed capital for a period that extends over three months, which is commonly known as defaulting.

Often, counterparty defaults threaten the partial or total loss of value of the market position held by the bank. Thus, measuring the magnitude of credit risk, examining the nature of bank loss that credit risk could emanate, and identifying the benefits of managing the same, have become paramount for Islamic banks.

As payments against banking facilities provided to clients are designed to be paid on a credit basis, this renders credit risk to be the major risk faced by Islamic financial institutions. Additionally, the popular practice of murabahah and tawarruq (or commodity murabahah), currently adopted in most of the Muslim World, continues to increase the exposure faced by Islamic financial institutions to credit risk. This is because these two financing instruments are considered debt-based contracts as they make clients debtors to the bank. Clients are required to pay their due liabilities through installments and they might default for any reason, and thus, creating credit risk to the bank.

To facilitate the provision of credit to its financing customers, banks charge an additional amount of money that caters as the profit margin, also known as the credit risk premium. The credit risk premium is deemed permissible by the norms of Shariah since the profit is a result from transactions based on sale (al-bay’), and not loans.

Islamic banks draft credit risk policies which governs all lines of business by providing guidelines to identify, measure, monitor and control credit risk on an aggregate basis. It addresses, among others, matters related to exposure limits for various sectors, products and different types of debtors. Chapter 6 explores credit risk in extensive detail.




Liquidity Risk in Islamic Banks

Liquidity in finance is the degree of ease by which institutes can dispose its assets to raise funds. It is a measure of how easily an asset can be converted to cash. Liquidity risk is the possible inability of banks to meet its short-term financial needs.

Banks enhance its liquidity by increasing the cash assets they hold to reduce the liquidity risk, which in turn affects the level of profitability. Hence, liquidity management is the trade-off between risk and return. It forecasts the liquidity needs of a bank and provides for these needs in the most cost-effective way.

Liquidity management in Islamic banks mainly revolves around forecasting the demand for funds and facilitating sufficient reserves to meet this demand. Islamic banks are obligated to fulfil the demands of the copious deposit withdrawals and financing drawdowns, that take place daily. As a result, banks often dedicate a certain sum of money as reserves for the sole purpose of meeting these demands.

Liquidity management aids banks to forecast the potential demand for funds, to equip them with the resources to meet those demands, in a manner most desirable to benefit the shareholder/stockholders of the bank.

Since the deposits and investments (liabilities) accepted by Islamic banks usually correlates with financings provided by the same, it is vital to ensure that banks maintain its liquidity at equilibrium. Thus, the primary objective of liquidity management is to achieve the equilibrium by ensuring that the level of liquidity maintained by the bank is adequate to meet the depositor withdrawal and unusual financing demands. Too much liquidity or too little of it could greatly affect the smooth functioning of the bank.

Liquidity can be obtained by banks from elements existing on both sides of the balance sheet as well as from off-balance sheet activities. Focusing solely on the asset side of the balance sheet, for example by providing more financing to customers or selling investment securities, could prove to be inefficient. This is because of the potential credit risk or the need to sell securities in the wrong timing, and thus getting less profits or maybe incur losses.

While depending heavily on the liability side such as attracting more deposits from corporates and purchasing wholesale funds, could increase the vulnerability of the bank to extensive factors such as market conditions. Thus, liquidity managers must examine the wide array of sources to generate the most cost-effective liquidity plan for implementation.




Operational Risk in Islamic Banks

Operational risk has been defined by the Bank of International Settlement (BIS) as the possibility of incurring loss that results from either the failure or the inadequacy of existing internal processes, people and system. It includes the legal risk of incurring potential losses from lawsuits that obligate the bank to compensate for their operational lapses to its customers.

As discussed earlier, losses that may arise from credit and market risks are backed by capital. Likewise, the losses that could be incurred from operational risks are also backed by the capital. Banks could use the standardised approach or the advanced measurement approach to arrive at the capital requirements for operational risks.

1. Standardised Approach

The standardised approach deliberates the capital charge for operational risk as:

Capital Charge for Operational Risk = β× Gross Income

Wherein, gross income is the average of gross income incurred over the last three years. Gross income is a broad indicator that serves as a proxy for the scale of business operations and thus the likely scale of operational risk exposure. β serves as a proxy for the industry-wide relationship between the operational risk loss experience for a given business line and the aggregate level of gross income for that business line.

The Basic Indicator Approach (BIA): a simpler version of the standardised approach that uses a single parameter (α) of 15%6 to multiply with the average of the aggregate gross income of the bank. For instance, if the aggregate gross income of the bank is at USD 50 billion, the capital charge for operational risk can be calculated as:

Capital Charge for Operational Risk = USD 50 billion × 15% = USD 7.5 billion

2. Advanced Measurement Approach (AMA)

The AMA is a more refined approach to the standardised approach since it takes into account the controls observed on the operational process. The advanced measurement approach estimates:

a) Frequency of operational losses incurred over a year.

b) Potential size of anticipated operational losses.

Islamic banks are advised to outline their operation risk management policy upon the principles delivered by the BIS, IFSB and central bank. The policy is expected to be applied on all business activities, products, processes and systems to ensure the following:

• To identify generic risks and its associated causes in banking operations.

• To ensure establishment of controls wherever necessary for the prevention, detection and recovery from events that result of operational risks.

• To monitor and report on the status of operational risk management.

• To establish and standardise a globally acceptable approach, acceptable to the prudential rules and principles of Shariah, to manage operational risks.

• To create awareness of operational risk while nurturing a culture emphasised on managing the same.




Shariah Non-Compliance Risk

Islamic banks’ operations are based significantly on the rules and principles of Shariah, governing its structure and activities; and hence, Shariah non-compliance risk is a specific concern for Islamic banks.

The Shariah rules and principles upon which the activities of the bank must adhere to, are determined by either the Shariah board of the respective IFI or establishments recognised as the responsible bodies of the jurisdiction in which the IFI operates.

The failure of IFIs to observe the Shariah rules and principles, as recognised by the Shariah board of the IFI or relevant bodies, leads to Shariah non-compliance. Shariah non-compliance risk is a form of legal risk that can be highly consequential for the existence and the reputation of IFIs. Thus, IFIs must take supreme measures to ensure that the formation, termination and other elements in contract documentations are found in compliance to Shariah rules and principles.

This is vital since the elements that constitute contract documentation could impact the contract performance in cases of fraud, misrepresentation, duress or any other rights and obligations of the contracting entities.

Islamic banks strive to operate within the Shariah Compliance Framework (SCF) which enables banks to communicate and execute Shariah risk management across the organisation effectively as a measure to mitigate the risk of Shariah non-compliance. SCF serves to fulfil the following objectives-

• To ensure Shariah compliance of the banking products, services and activities as determined by the Shariah regulatory authorities.

• To facilitate the establishment of appropriate structures for the functioning and management of Shariah non-compliance risk.

• To establish processes for the identification, measurement, monitoring and control of Shariah non-compliance risk.

• To ascertain the degree of risk tolerance acceptable with regards to Shariah compliance for both permissible and non-permissible activities banks may engage in.




Why do IFIs need to manage Shariah non-compliance risk?

The repercussions of Shariah non-compliance have adverse financial implication on the performances of banks. Shariah non-compliance leads to:

• The violation of Islamic banking acts and regulations.

• Deterioration of the business reputation as an accusation of Shariah non-compliance could tarnish the goodwill of the Islamic entity.

• Invalidation of contracts since non-compliance to Shariah would deem the documentation and execution of the ‘aqad (the contract) null and void (batil/fasid). It would also render the profit generated from the financing activities as impermissible.

• The erosion of profit due to non-recognition of haram profit would reduce the earnings and adversely affect the capital which would invariably impact the capital adequacy ratio (CAR) the bank is expected to maintain. As a result, the central bank could impose further capital charges on the concerned bank for its operational risk.
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Figure 19: Repercussions of Shariah Non-Compliance

Market Risk in Islamic Banks

IFSB defines market risk as the risk of losses in on- and off-balance sheet positions arising from movements in market prices i.e. fluctuations in values in tradable, marketable or leaseable assets (including sukuk) and in off-balance sheet individual portfolios (for example restricted investment accounts). The risks relate to the current and future volatility of market values of specific assets (for example, the commodity price of a salam asset, the market value of a sukuk, the market value of murabahah assets purchased to be delivered over a specific period) and of foreign exchange rates7.

Market risk in Islamic banks can be defined as the risk of losses in on- and off-balance sheet positions arising from movements in market prices of securities, investments, and inventories. Shariah permits Islamic banks to invest in shares, physical assets as well as commodities of organisations that do not involve in riba (interest), maysir (gambling) and gharar (ambiguities) in their operations.

Islamic banks will be exposed to losses that could arise due to fluctuations in prices in tradable, marketable or leasable assets and in off-balance sheet individual portfolios such as restricted investment accounts.

• As a result, Islamic banks are exposed to market risk, also commonly known as business risk.

• Market risk is the potential loss in the value of a bank’s assets due to the changes in market drivers such as stock prices, interest rates, forex rates and commodity prices. Business risk poses a major threat when the trading in goods become the core business of an Islamic bank.

• A bank’s performance becomes susceptible to the changes in the economic conditions because of business risk. For instance, if a bank leases out a property it has acquired under the ijarah contract, during times of recession the bank would witness a fall in rental income as well as in the value of the property. In a similar fashion, the bank could suffer a capital loss if it fails to sell an asset above the cost price. The loss could be a result of the persisting economic conditions such as in the case of inflationary pressure which adversely raises input prices or recession which could severely reduce earnings from poor sales.

Thus, it is imperative that Islamic banks are sensitive to the amounts held by them for Fixed Rate Assets (FRA) which are provided financing or investments with fixed returns, Variable Rate Asset (VRA) which are provided financing or investment with changeable returns, Fixed Rate Liabilities (FRL) which are deposits or funds with fixed costs, and Variable Rate Liabilities (VRL) which are deposits or funds with changeable costs.

To manage market risk, Islamic banks should be flexible to the changing market conditions and offer rate-sensitive products, explore hedging and permissible derivatives and constantly monitor the market value of the assets they trade in.

Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk is the possible impairment in the financial conditions banks may need to encounter due to the changes in the interest rate. Banks are highly exposed to the adverse impact of interest rate risk, because of changes in earnings and capital that result from the fluctuations in the market rates of interest.

Although the contractual framework of Islamic banking does not recognise the of use interest rate, the benchmarking of the Islamic profit rate against interest rate results in the exposures and pricing of Islamic financial products being highly dependent on the interest rate. In this regard, many efforts have been made by Shariah scholars and Islamic finance experts to come up with a new benchmark that is not connected to interest rates but rather reflects the financing rates among Islamic banks. However, these attempts are faced by many challanges.

Consequently, the comprehension of risks associated with interest-bearing loans in conventional banks and its mitigation becomes obligatory upon risk managers of Islamic Banks. A weak oversight over the same could cost undue losses to both banks as well as its customers.

In dual-banking systems, the variations in the cost of funds have a peculiar impact on Islamic banks. Depending on the nature of the assets and liabilities accumulated by a bank, changes in the cost of funds that are influenced by the changes in the levels of interest rate could have an adverse impact on earnings. While rate sensitive assets and rate sensitive liabilities react in the same direction to changes in interest rates, fixed rate assets and liabilities do not.

Managing Interest Risks

Managing interest rate risk is critical for banks to alleviate market risk. The changing interest rates often have a dual impact – a short-term and a long-term impact – on banks. The immediate impact transpires on the Net Interest Income (NII) (for Islamic banks: Net Financing Income) while the long-term impact materialises on the net worth of the bank resulting from the variations in the value of assets, liabilities and off-balance sheet positions.

The NII or the net interest margin (NIM) of banks are highly influenced by the movement of interest rates such that in case of any discrepancy in the cashflows (fixed assets or liabilities) or repricing dates (floating assets or liabilities), the bank’s NII or NIM are subject to variations. The earnings generated by assets and cost of liabilities are dependent on the of market interest rate and thus, vulnerable to the latter’s volatility.

Interest rate risk management involves tackling the risks that result from maturity and repricing mismatches. These are measured from both the earnings as well as the economic value perspective:

• Measuring the interest rate risk from the earnings perspective constitutes analysing the potential impact that the changes in the interest rate would have on the accrual or reported earnings. It is measured by studying the changes on the NII or NIM i.e. the differences between the total interest income and total interest expense.

• Measuring interest rate risk from the economic value perspective, on the other hand, studies the impact of the changing interest rate on the expectant cashflows from the assets, after the deduction of the expected cashflows and net cashflows incurred on liabilities and off-balance sheet items, respectively. It emphasises on the risk to net worth that results from the repricing mismatches and other interest rate sensitive positions. It identifies the vulnerability that long-term interest rate gaps could result in.

The techniques adopted to measure interest rate risk vary over a range of methods from calculations that rely on maturity and repricing tables, and static stimulation based on current on- and off-balance sheet positions to sophisticated dynamic modelling techniques which study the changes in the behaviour of banks and its customers with respect to the evolving interest rate. These methods differ in its capacity to capture the various forms of interest rate exposure with the simplest methods primarily focused in capturing risks that result from mismatches in maturity and repricing. The more advanced methods, on the other hand, tend to better capture the full range of risk exposures. Additionally, while most of the renowned approaches typically measure the risk exposure from one perspective alone, there does exist some that measure the interest rate risk exposure from both the earnings and the economic value perspective.

Gap Analysis

Through simplified maturity and repricing schedules, simple indicators of interest rate risk sensitivity of the changing interest rate on both earnings and economic value can be generated. Gap analysis remains to be a widely popular measure adopted by the banks to assess the impact of the changing interest rate risk on current earnings. It is one of the oldest developed methods to measure the exposure of banks to interest rate risk and evaluates earning exposure by finding the difference between the interest rate sensitive liabilities from the corresponding rate sensitive assets in to produce a ‘repricing gap’ for the time band in concern. By multiplying the gap to the perceived change in interest rates help banks to yield an approximate change that could impact the net interest income resulting from such interest rate movement.

The size of the interest rate movement assumed for the analysis is determined by a variety of factors that include historical records, simulation of potential future interest rate movements, and the judgement of bank management. A liability sensitive gap or negative gap occurs when rate sensitive liabilities exceed rate sensitive assets, including off-balance sheet positions, held by the bank in a given time band. This implies that the net financing income, which corresponds to the NII of conventional banks, witnesses a decline with an increase in the market interest. Conversely, an asset sensitive gap or positive gap implies that the bank’s net financing income could decline as a result of a decrease in the level of interest rates.


Funds gap = Risk Sensitive Assets (RSA) - Risk Sensitive Liabilities (RSL)
A positive gap shows financing of RSA by fixed rate liabilities: RSA>RSL
A negative gap shows fixed rate assets financed by RSL: RSA>RSL






Limitations of Gap Analysis

Although gap analysis is a widely used approach by banks to assess interest rate risk exposure, below we discuss the number of shortcomings that accompany the same:

• First, a gap analysis does not account for the variation in the characteristics of different positions within a time band. All positions in the time band concerned are assumed to mature or reprice simultaneously. As the degree of aggregation within a time band increases, this simplification tends to have a greater impact on the precision of the estimates.

• Secondly, gap analysis does not consider the differences that could arise between interest rates as a result of the changing market interest rates.

• Additionally, it overlooks the changes in the payment schedules that results from a constantly evolving interest rate environment. As a result, the differences in the sensitivity of income that could arise from option-related positions are failed to be accounted for.

Thus, a gap analysis only provides a rough approximation of the change in the net interest income. Furthermore, most gap analyses fail to capture a potentially important source of risk to current income which is the variability in non-interest revenue and expenses.

Practice exercise/case study on gap calculations/analysis

The table below shows the balance sheet of ABC Islamic bank. What is the impact on bank income if the interest rate increases by 1% ?



	Assets
	Liabilities



	Fixed Rate Assets
	Fixed Rate Liabilities



	Murabahah financing
	5,000
	Long-term deposits
	7,000



	Tawarruq financing
	3,000
	
	



	Rate Sensitive Assets
	Rate Sensitive Liabilities



	Ijarah
	4,000
	Long-term deposits
	5,000



	Total
	12,000
	Total
	12,000




all figures are in RM’000




Solution:

Total Rate Sensitive Assets (RSA): 4,000

Total Rate Sensitive Liabilities (RSL): 5,000

Gap= RSA-RSL

   = 4,000-5,000

   = -1,000 (negative gap)

Change in net financing income = Change in interest rate × Gap

   = 1% × (-1,000) = -100

If the interest rate increases by 1% the net financing income will decrease RM100

Therefore, an increase in interest rate affects net financing income negatively. If the management of ABC Islamic Bank expects a rise in the interest rate, they should increase RSA and/or decrease RSL to minimize or close the gap.

TEST YOUR UNDERSTANDING


1. Credit risk is?

a. The risk of the bank not paying its obligations.

b. The risk of an increase in interest rate such that debtors will default.

c. The risk of the counterparty failing to meet the contractual obligations as agreed upon by both parties.

d. The risk of declining in the credit provided by banks and thus obtaining less profits.

2. Legal risk is included in:

a. Credit risk.

b. Operational risk.

c. Shariah non-compliance risk.

d. Market risk.

3. Which of these approaches is used to arrive to the capital requirements for operational risk?

a. Advanced Measurement Approach.

b. Capital Allocation Pricing Model (CAPM).

c. CAMELS approach.

d. All of them.

4. Shariah non-compliance risk leads to:

a. The violation of Islamic banking acts and regulations.

b. Deterioration of the business reputation.

c. Invalidation of contract.

d. All of them.

5- Which is NOT correct about interest risk?

a. It is the possible impairment in the financial conditions banks may need to encounter due to the changes in the interest rate.

b. It is only faced by conventional banks because Islamic banks don’t deal with interest.

c. The exposures and pricing of Islamic financial products are highly dependent on interest rates and are therefore affected by interest risk.

d. It is the risk of variations in the cost of funds because of changes in the interest rate.

Review questions:

1. Briefly explain credit risk and liquidity risk in Islamic banks.

2. What are the two approaches used to calculate the capital requirements of operational risks?

3. What is Shariah non-compliance risk?

Answer: 1- C 2- B 3- A 4- D



CHAPTER SUMMARY


In this chapter, we explored the risks that face Islamic banks starting from the traditional risks like credit, market, liquidity and operational risks, which face every single financial institution, and ended with Shariah non-compliance risk which is unique and limited to Islamic financial institutions. Moreover, the chapter discussed interest rate risk which also influences Islamic banks despite the avoidance of dealing with interest in such banks, however, Islamic financing provided by these banks is benchmarked to this rate. The gap analysis was also introduced as a prominent tool for measuring interest risk.
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CHAPTER 4

FUNDING THE BANK



CHAPTER OVERVIEW


A bank’s funding is similar to the ‘stock of inventory’ for a trading company. A bank needs funds to do business, for its financing and investment activities. Funds received are a liability to the bank, hence must be maintained at sufficient level to meet the bank’s commitment at any time. Managing liquidity is an essential part of banking operations.

While the bank’s management works on mobilising funds and utilising the deposits, it should ensure that there is enough liquidity to meet the obligations. Liquidity refers to the expeditious ability of an entity to fulfil its financial commitments. It is a degree that indicates how quickly an asset could be converted to cash without any consequent impact on its market worth. The liquidity of a bank is based on its ability to dispose of liabilities that await payments, with the existing resource of cash or other assets that can be easily liquidated, held by the bank.

Maintaining a high degree of liquidity would have an adverse impact on the levels of investments placed and vice-versa because there is an opportunity cost for investing part of this liquity and earn returns. For example, if a bank decides to increase its investments to enhance its earnings, this would result in a lower degree of liquidity due to the unavailability of cash and other liquid assets that are necessary for paying the due financial commitments of the bank (e.g. when the Islamic bank is obliged to pay the principle capital (deposit) to the depositor). Thus, a bank should make a balance between liquidity and investment in a way that fulfil obligations and earn some returns at the same time. In other words, maintaining the right mix of the funds utilisation is important for banks to avoid losing the opportunity of earning returns or not able to meet its financial commitments while complying to relevant regulatory requirements on liquidity management.

The two major roles that banks ensure with regards to liquidity is, the managing of liquidity creation and liquidity risk. Banks, through liquidity creation, enable depositors and companies to remain in the state of liquidity, especially when other forms of financing in the market are thin. Creation of liquidity is extremely vital since an illiquid market could result in the decline of economic growth and activities. Managing liquidity risk, on the other hand, is to ensure that the bank’s own liquidity remains intact so as not to disrupt its functions.

The basic relationship between the two roles are intricately connected; since the increase in the level of liquidity maintained by banks for its operations reduces the extent of liquidity they can inject into the market.






 TOPIC 4.1: LIQUIDITY

Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the current and future risk that results from banks’ potential failure to fulfil its immediate financial obligations. Banks face high liquidity risk at times when there exists unanticipated cash outflows, by way of large deposit withdrawals, large credit disbursements, unexpected market movements or crystallisation of contingent obligations. It could also be a result of the loss of liquidity in the market it is dependent on or an external event prompting avoidance of trade by counterparties, etc.

While most withdrawals are predictable, due to the nature of its contract or well-defined features as in the case of current accounts; not all outflows can be forecasted.

This uncertainty increases the risk of the bank’s inability to fulfil payment requirements due to inadequate sources of funds.

• The volume of cash held by the bank is determined by its liquidity requirement. While transactions that increase cash holdings provide funds for new investments, transactions that reduce cash holdings prompt banks to replenish its cash assets. These assets are either acquired through the issuance of new debt/financing or selling some physical assets (building, land or equipments).

• A bank’s liquidity framework maintains sufficient liquidity to satisfy all sorts of stress events, like a sudden cash withdrawal or early deposit upliftments, that it may face, to reduce liquidity risk exposure. The constant assessment and supervision of the bank’s liquidity position serves a long way to ensure smooth functioning of banks.

• Banks often reduce their liquidity risk by creating a liquidity cushion or buffer through the retention of more liquid assets than required, to enable the banks to meet their liquidity needs in times of increased liquidity pressure.

• The liquidity of banks is especially scrutinised due to the economically vital role that it plays, in comparison to other institutions that face debt obligations. Banks manage their liquidity risks through the use of various accounting techniques to identify the requirement of the bank for cash or other collateral to meet its financial obligations.




The fundamentals of measuring and managing liquidity are discussed below:

• Banks must have an established process for the identification, measurement, monitoring and control of liquidity risk.

• Bank must have a thorough strategy that aids in the establishment of a balance between the sources and tenures of funds. They must have contingency plans for, detailing strategies to adopt in case of deficit liquidity during emergencies.

• Liquidity risk exposures and funding needs across legal entities and currencies must be diligently controlled by the bank such that it falls within the legal, regulatory and operational jurisdictions in the transferability of liquidity.

• Banks must ensure the smooth functioning of payments and settlements through exhaustive participation in the daily positioning of liquidity, through addressing of risks of potential non-payment or non-settlement throughout the year.

• Banks should actively be involved in managing its collateral positions and distinguishing between its restricted and unrestricted assets. They must maintain a portfolio of highly liquid assets to be used during highly liquidity stressed scenarios.

• Banks must identify potential liquidity strains and ensure that their exposures do not surpass their risk tolerance at any given point by conducting extensive market and institution-specific studies.




Case Study: Liquidity Risk Management in CIMB Islamic Bank

This case study illustrates the liquidity risk management in banks and how the bank communicates it with stakeholders. Below, CIMB Group, which encompasses CIMB Islamic Bank, defines its objective and policy of liquidity risk management, lines of responsibility, and how the bank manages its liquidty risk.

Objective & Policy of Liquidity Risk Management8

• The objective of the Group’s liquidity risk management is to ensure that the Group can meet its cash obligations in a timely and cost-effective manner.

• To this end, the Group’s liquidity risk management policy is to maintain high quality and well diversified portfolios of liquid assets and sources of funds under both business as usual (BAU) and stress conditions.

• Due to its large distribution network and strategic marketing focus, the Group is able to maintain a diversified core deposit base comprising savings, demand and term deposits. This provides the Group a stable large funding base.

Who is responsible for Liquidity Risk Management?

• While each entity has to prudently manage its liquidity position to meet its daily operating needs, there are also specific functions in the Group that are responsible for liquidity risk management9:

• Country Asset Liability Management Committee (“Country ALCO”) that reports to Group ALCO (“GALCO”). GALCO meets at least once a month to discuss the liquidity risk and funding profile of the Group.

• Asset-Liability Management function: responsible for the independent monitoring of the Group liquidity risk profile, works closely with Treasury and Markets in its surveillance on market conditions.

How is Liquidity Risk Management done?10

• To take account of the differences in market and regulatory environments, each entity measures and forecasts its respective cash flows arising from the maturity profiles of assets, liabilities, off balance sheet commitments and derivatives over a variety of time horizons under normal business and stress conditions on a regular basis.

• Liquidity risk undertaken by the Group is governed by a set of established liquidity risk appetite and thresholds.

• Limits and Management Action triggers (“MATs”) have been established to alert management to potential and emerging liquidity pressures.

• The Group Liquidity Risk Management Framework is subjected to regular review; assumptions and the thresholds levels are regularly reviewed in response to regulatory changes and changing business needs and market conditions.

• Liquidity positions are monitored on a daily basis and complied with internal risk thresholds and regulatory requirements for liquidity risk.

• The Group’s contingency funding plan is in place to alert and to enable the management to act effectively and efficiently during a liquidity crisis and under adverse market conditions. The plan consists of two key components11:

1. An early warning system:

Designed to alert the Group’s management whenever the Group’s liquidity position may be at risk. It provides the Group with the analytical framework to detect a likely liquidity problem and to evaluate the Group’s funding needs and strategies in advance of a liquidity crisis.

2. A funding crisis management team:

Made up of a set of indicators (monitored against pre-determined thresholds) that can reliably signal the financial strength and stability of the Group.

• The Group is measuring, monitoring and managing its liquidity positions to comply with the regulatory Basel III Liquidity Coverage Ratio (“LCR”) guidelines and limits.

• The purpose of the LCR is to promote short-term liquidity risk resilience by ensuring that the Group has sufficient unencumbered high-quality liquid assets to meet its liquidity needs for a 30-day combined liquidity crisis scenario.

• The Group also performs a consolidated stress test, including liquidity stress test, a semi-annual basis to identify vulnerable areas in its portfolio, gauge the financial impact and enable management to take preemptive actions.

• Two scenarios, namely bank specific crisis and combined crisis, are modelled. The assumptions used, including: run-off rates on deposit, draw down rates on undrawn commitments, and haircuts for marketable securities, are documented.

• The LCR and stress test results are submitted to the Country and Group ALCOs, the Group Risk Committee, and the Board Risk Committees/Board of Directors of the Group. The LCR and stress test results to date have indicated that the Group has sufficient liquidity capacity to meet the liquidity requirements under stated stress test conditions.

The following table, which is taken from the financial statement of CIMB Islamic Bank in 2017, exibits components of the assets and liablitites of the bank according to the time remaining until their maturity. This is helpful in addressing liquidity gap and in financial planning and risk management. The first section presents the assets and classifies them into seven groups according to maturity, while the second section does the same for liabilities. Finally, the net liquidity gap is calculated by deducting total assets from total liabilities. In addition, the third and fourth sections presents the non-derivative and derivative liablitites, respectively, according to the same classification.
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TEST YOUR UNDERSTANDING


1. Liquidity is:

a. What the bank has as a liquid cash only.

b. What the bank has as current assets.

c. The degree of how quickly an asset could be converted to cash without any consequent impact on its market worth.

d. The percentage of cash to total assets.

2. Banks face liquidity risk when:

a. anticipated cash outflows exist.

b. large deposit withdrawals exist.

c. Small credit disbursements exist.

d. All of the above.

3. Banks often reduce their liquidity risk by:

a. Creating liquidity cushion.

b. Allocating most of their current assets in cash form.

c. Minimising credit disbursements.

d. Avoiding long-term investments.

Review questions:

1. What is the adverse impact of maintaining a high level of liquidity?

2. Define liquidity risk.

3. With reference to the CIMB Islamic Bank case study, what is “Country ALCO”?

Answer: 1- C 2- B 3- A






 TOPIC 4.2: SOURCES OF FUNDS

The major sources of funding are deposit accounts, short-term funds and long-term funds. The amount and the type of sources of funds influence the volume of liquidity the bank can create and the level of liquidity risk it faces.

• If banks can source higher amounts of funds, it can create more liquidity.

• Similarly, if a bank has easier access to funds, it faces lesser liquidity risk.

The various sources of funds can be distinguished based on retail funding, short-term fund or wholesale funding, and equity-related funding. For Islamic banking operations, banks with surplus funds will place or invest funds with deficit banks according to certain Shariah-compliant contracts rather than relying on interest-based lending.

Retail Funding

Retail funding comprises of funds that banks receive from non-institutional depositors. It consists of deposit accounts wherein the account holders entrust their money with the bank for safekeeping and future transactions. It is one of the largest sources of funding for banks which are used in financing to become income producing assets. These are an inexpensive source of finance for banks and represents a liability for the same.

Current/Checking/Demand Accounts

Current account, also known as a checking or demand account, is a basic deposit account, available to both individuals and businesses to facilitate transactions. Account holders have the flexibility to withdraw the deposited amount when desired through the means of a bank card, over-the-counter withdrawal slips (cheques), ATMs and other means of immediate withdrawals.

Banks may charge a service fee upon regular intervals, which are often waived in cases of account holders satisfying other requirements such as setting up of a direct deposit.

The following table shows the different types of current accounts offered by Maybank Islamic12



	
	Current Account-i
	Basic Current Account-i



	Underlying contract
	Qard (Loan)
	Qard (Loan)



	Benefits
	• Checking facility

• Unlimited withdrawals can be made at the home branch

• Outstation withdrawals of RM 10,000 can be made by personal account holders

• RM 1,000 can be withdrawn per day via Maybankard Bankcard

• Introducer is required

• The Bank may at its discretion pay hibah (gift) to the depositors

• Eligibility for protection from PIDM

	• No charges on the issuance of cheque books except for the stamp duty

• Free monthly statement

• Eligibility for protection from PIDM




	Who can apply
	• Individuals aged 18 years and above

• Companies

• Associations

• Clubs

	• Malaysians and permanent residents aged 18 years and above

• Introducer required








Maybank Islamic also offers the Premier Mudharabah Account-i and net Account-i (A Shariah-compliant, profit-bearing online investment account). Both are under Daily Fund-i Individual which is structured based on the mudharabah contract. The capital is not guaranteed.

Savings Accounts

These accounts usually offer its account holders a return on their deposits maintained in the account. In some cases, account holders are imposed a monthly fee upon their failure to maintain a set balance or a certain number of deposits in a month.

Savings accounts have different forms that range from basic savings accounts with minimum features to premier savings accounts that offers higher returns and more features.

A basic savings account is considered a mechanism for financial inclusion as it offers the essential financial services for the client (i.e. safekeeping, flexible withdrawal and returns).

The following table showsthe different types of saving accounts offered by Maybank Islamic



	
	Savings Account-i
	Basic Savings Account-i



	Underlying contract
	Qard (Loan)
	Qard (Loan)



	Benefits
	• The Bank may at its discretion pay hibah (gift) to the depositors

• Over-the-counter service at any Maybank / MIB branch

• ATM access and cashless shopping via e-pos facility

• Kawanku Phone Banking access

• Earn Treats Points with Maybankard Visa Debit

• Option of online banking via Maybank2u.com

• Eligibility for protection from PIDM

	• The Bank may at its discretion pay hibah (gift) to the depositors

• No service or maintenance charge as long as a minimum balance of RM 20 is maintained

• Free mini statement

• Earn Treats Points with Maybankard Visa Debit

• Option of online banking via Maybank2u.com

• Eligibility for protection from PIDM




	Who can apply
	• Individuals (personal/joint including external accounts)

• Clubs/societies/organisations recognised by Maybank

• Children aged 12 and below (trust accounts)

• Children aged 18 and below with identification cards (minor accounts)

	• Malaysians and permanent residents

• Basic Savings Account-i (BSA-i) - adult above 18 years old

• Basic Savings Account Trust-i (BSA-i Trust) - children below 18 years old with parents or legal guardians below 60 years of age

• Basic Savings Account Minor-i (BSA-i Minor) - teenagers aged 12 to below 18 years old








• Maybank Islamic also offers the Yippie-i Savings Account which is designed for children below 18 years old, whose parents or guardians are below 60 years of age.

• For children above 12 to below 18 years old with an NRIC (MyKad), Maybank Islamic offers the imteen-i Account. This account has a spending limit of RM 500 per day on selected withdrawals via over-the-counter, Maybank2u.com, ATM, EFTPOS, MEPS and Regional Switch.

• Maybank Islamic also offers the online savings account, Maybank2u Savers-i. It provides the convenience of opening, accessing and closing the account without visiting a branch.

Time Deposits

A time deposit account, also known as Certificates of Deposits (CD) and fixed deposit (FD), is an investment vehicle for consumers. These accounts offer a higher rate of return than traditional savings accounts. However, time deposit account holders do not have the flexibility to withdraw their deposits until the completion of a set period. Time deposit is an account which customers will opt for when they have excess funds.

The following table shows the different types of saving accounts offered by Maybank Islamic:



	
	Islamic Fixed Deposit-i
	General Investment Account-i (GIA-i)



	Underlying contract
	Commodity murabahah (cost-plus-sale)
	Mudarabah (profit sharing)



	Benefits
	• Higher profit rates than a normal Islamic savings account.

• Flexibility of tenure from 1 month up to 60 months.

• Profits paid either monthly, half-yearly or upon maturity.

• Free Personal Accident Takaful Coverage plus medical and funeral expenses (accident only)*

• Acceptance as collateral for banking facilities*

• Eligibility for protection from PIDM

	• Placement tenure: 1 - 60 months

• Profit calculated on a daily basis.

• Potentially earn higher returns.

• Profit gained from the investment will be shared between both parties (Customer & Bank) accordingly based on agreed profit sharing ratio (PSR). The profit will be paid on a monthly basis and is subject to tenure.








In addition, Maybank Islamic offers the Prosperous Now! Account-i (PNA-i). It is an Islamic term deposit based on the Shariah contract of tawarruq that offers instant cash the moment the customer signs up. Instant cash refers to a security deposit (Hamish Jiddiyah) which will be credited to customer’s account on the placement day. Upon maturity of PNA-i, the Bank will pay the customer the principal amount as the profit has already been paid by setting off the security deposit that was paid upfront.

Borrowed or Wholesale Funding (Interbank Funding/Money Market)

Borrowed funding consists of funds acquired from the central bank, repurchase agreements, issuance of sukuk. Wholesale funding refers to funding that involves large institutional deposits such as large Certificates of Deposits and other borrowed funds. Banks opt for wholesale funding to expand their funding needs. It is normally at a higher cost than deposits from retail customers.

Equity Funding

Equity funding consists of the common stock, preferred stock and retained earnings of the bank. Shareholder equity provides for the core formation of a bank’s capital. Issuance of equity capital is expensive and thus is only used to raise funds for an acquisition or for the repairment of the capital position. Seldom do banks issue equity shares, after raising the initial capital, to fund their financing portfolio.

While deposits are the primary source of funds for almost every bank, shareholder equity is an important part of a bank’s capital.

TEST YOUR UNDERSTANDING


1. Which of these is NOT a source of funds in a bank?

a. Fixed assets.

b. Borrowed funds.

c. Deposits.

d. Paid capital.

2. Wholesale funding consists of these EXCEPT:

a. Funds from central bank.

b. Issuance of bonds/sukuk.

c. Time deposits.

d. Repurchase agreements.

3. Equity funding consists of:

a. Only common stocks.

b. Common and preferred stocks.

c. Retained earnings.

d. B and C

Review questions:

1. What are the major sources of funding for banks?

2. Compare retail funding with wholesale funding in terms of deposits.

Answer: 1- A 2- C 3- D






 TOPIC 4.3: COST OF FUNDS

Cost of funds refer to the compensation paid by the bank to the investors or depositors, for financing its activities to ensure the smooth functioning of the bank. They represent the costs of mobilising funds to be utilised for the bank’s financing and investment activities.

These are mainly calculated as:

1. cost incurred on every additional unit of funding (marginal funding cost);

2. cost incurred on stock of funding in existence (average funding cost).

The costs incurred for the deployment of the bank’s activities impact both the monetary as well as the financial stability of the bank. Such costs constitute the following components:

a. Risk-free rate: The yield or rate of return applicable on governmental bonds or sukuk due to the low risk of default associated with the same. It is the base rate and is the component found in all types of bank funding. The difference between the cost of funds and a risk-free rate is referred to as bank funding spread.

b. Risk premia: The credit risk or risk of default by the bank, borne by the investors and depositors, are compensated through credit risk premium, over and above the risk-free rate of return. The premium is computed based on the risk involved in the bank’s use of its funds against the amount of capital it owns. Therefore, the credit risk premium increases if the instrument is relatively riskier. The risk premium is also determined by macro elements such as the economic outlook and factors peculiar to a given bank such as its risk model.

c. Other costs: These are costs incurred by the bank’s administrative and operational functions.

These components are highly receptive to changes in the monetary and other macroprudential policies.
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Figure 20: The Components of a Bank’s Funding Cost

The cost of funds is one of the most vital input costs for financial institutions since the spread between the cost and the interest rate charged on the borrowers determines the profit for the banks. Therefore, if a bank raises new funds at a higher cost, while the financing rates remain the same, the profitability of the bank reduces.

Thus, the cost of funds influences the desirable rate of return for banks on the various forms of financing.

Cost of Retail and Wholesale Funding

Retail deposits are a relatively cheaper source of funding in comparison to wholesale investors, households and companies. This is because depositors are compensated for lesser than other account holders, due to the nature of deposit accounts. Deposit account holders have the flexibility of withdrawing the funds provided upon desire, with exception of term deposits. The two main purposes of deposit accounts are:

1. Preservation of funds.

2. Earning returns (at a relatively lower rate of return compared to investment funds);

The risks borne by deposit accounts holders are lower as deposits are subject to guarantee repayment. Therefore, deposit accounts bear low credit risk premium. Other costs sustained are indirect costs incurred for the overall maintenance of retail funding. These include: fixed costs for the maintenance of electronic medium and costs variable to services provided by the banks such as safekeeping and fulfilment of payments.

Cost for wholesale funding can be distinguished as direct cost and indirect cost.

• Direct cost is the rate the bank is obliged to pay against the funding and is reflected in the profit rate. It is inclusive of the risk-free rate and risk premia. For example, the coupon paid by the issuing bank for sukuk.

• Indirect costs on the other hand are the charges paid to facilitate the funding and are inclusive of the operational, administrative and legal costs. For example, the fees paid for underwriting the issuance and registration of sukuk with the listing authority and fees paid on legal documentation.

Bank Negara Malaysia (BNM) introduced the Base Rate (BR) as a reference rate for the pricing for retail loans and financing. Malaysian banks will use funding costs and the Statutory Reserve Requirement (SRR) cost imposed by BNM as its benchmark to quote their BR. Banks may use different proxies to calculate their benchmark cost of funds.

For instance, MBSB Bank uses their average cost of funds while Kuwait Finance House (KFH) uses the marginal cost of funds which refers to the deposit rate of Ringgit-only deposits, excluding gold accounts and investment accounts (source: https://www.kfh.com.my/malaysia/personal/financing/BASE-RATE.html). Hong Leong Islamic Bank’s benchmark cost of funds reflects the cost of raising new funds in prevailing market funding conditions based on the 3-month KLIBOR, as well as customer deposit rates.

Figure 21 and 22 show the historical benchmark cost of funds (COF) for MBSB Bank and KFH, respectively.




[image: ]

Figure 21: Historical Benchmark Cost of Funds (COF) for MBSB Bank

Source: https://www.mbsbbank.com/base_rate_base_financing_rate.html
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Figure 22: Historical Benchmark Cost of Funds (COF) for Kuwait Finance House (Malaysia)

TEST YOUR UNDERSTANDING


1. Cost of funds are calculated as:

a. Average and marginal funding costs.

b. Total and average funding costs.

c. Annual costs.

d. None of the above.

2. A bank’s funding costs consist of:

a. Risk-free rate.

b. Risk premia (credit risk premium).

c. Other costs.

d. All of the above.

3. ‘Other costs’ in a bank’s total cost of funds does NOT consist of:

a. Fixed costs.

b. Variable costs.

c. Cost of capital.

d. Indirect costs.

Review Questions:

1. How is a bank’s cost of funds calculated?

2. What is the ‘risk-free rate’?

3. Why are deposits considered a relatively cheaper source of funds?

4. What is the Base Rate introduced by Bank Negara Malaysia?

Answer: 1- A 2- D 3- C



CHAPTER SUMMARY


This chapter discussed how banks are funded from different sources and the cost of each source. First, it presented an essential aspect of any bank which is their liquidity and how to manage it in a way that balances between profitability and security. Moreover, it discussed the risks related to bank’s liquidity and the main practices for manging them.

A real-world case study from CIMB Islamic Bank about their liquidity risk management was exhibited to affirm the theoretical ideas.

A good understanding of these topics is considered fundamental and a must-have for any banker or even investor because they touch the very core of the banking business, and any issue or risk related to liquidity or a bank’s funding will definitely have an impact on the bank and its stakeholders.
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CHAPTER 5

TYPES OF INCOME



CHAPTER OVERVIEW


Banks are financial intermediaries that accept deposits and give financing to produce net financing income. However, with slower financing growth and compression in net-financing margins (NFM), banks must look at other income sources, especially non-financing income to put them on a profitable track.

A majority of a bank’s income is sourced from its financing and investment activities (e.g. loans, credit facilities and investments), and this is what is called its finance income. On the other hand, non-financing income is a bank’s income derived from fees including deposit and transaction fees, insufficient funds (NSF) fees, annual fees, monthly account service charges, inactivity fees, cheque and deposit slip fees, and other fee-based income. Conventional banks’ credit cards also charge penalty fees, including late fees and over-the-limit fees. Institutions charge fees that provide non-financing income as a way of generating revenue and ensuring liquidity in the event of increased default rates.






 TOPIC 5.1: MANAGING NON-FINANCING INCOME

Financing Income Vs Non-Financing Income

Financing income is the cost of providing credit and is considered a form of income. For Islamic banks, financing income represents operating income, which is income from normal business operations. In practice, financing constitutes the large portion of total assets of Islamic banks, thus their primary source of income is financing income.

Conventional banks rely heavily on non-financing income when interest rates (base rates) are low since their profit from the spread between the cost of funds and the average financing rate will decline.

Low base rates make it difficult for banks to make a profit, so they must rely on non-financing income instead. The degree to which banks rely on non-financing fees to make a profit is a function of the economic environment.

Market interest rates are driven by benchmark rates such as the central bank interest rate. This rate, or the rate at which banks lend money to one another, is determined by the rate at which the central bank pays banks interest. This rate is referred to as the discount rate or the interest rate on excess reserves or other different names.

For conventional banks, as this interest rate increases, banks can make a higher profit from financing income. Thus, when interest rate hits a certain point, it becomes more advantageous for the bank to use the reduction of fees and charges (reducing non-financing income) as a marketing tool to lure new deposits (to increase financing income). Similarly, this applies on the financing/profits rates of Islamic banks.

Financial institutions differ sharply in the amount of revenue they generate from fees and other non-financing sources. The bank’s traditional business of lending and purchasing net interest income is seen by some large banks as a less than optimal approach. Lending requires an almost one-for-one increase in the bank’s assets and supporting capital and entails significant risk of loss. Recall that interest income equals the interest rate charged times the dollar amount. Hence increasing the income requires either increasing the rate (which is difficult to do in the competitive environment) or increasing the volume of the loan. More loans often mean more default risk. Whereas, non-financing income typically equals the price of the product times the number of products or services sold.

The Importance of Managing Non-Financing Income

a. Banks face strong competition in pricing financing and deposits. Their net financing income and NFM, which is a measure of the difference between the financing income generated by banks and the amount of income paid out to depositor, are likely to remain stable or decline over time. To grow earnings, banks must increasingly rely on non-financing income and expense controls. In other words, competition continues to challenge financing yields, while rising financing rates may slow demand and run off short-term deposits, making new profitability strategies critical to successful growth.

b. Non-financing income is important for financial and performance analysis. Bankers and analysts typically measure performance over time and compare peer banks via their burden:

• the net overhead expense = non-financing expense - non-financing income

• the efficiency ratio = non-financing expense / ( net interest income + noninterest income)

• Burden rate = net overhead expense / total assets.

• In each case, better performance is indicated by a smaller figure or percentage in the burden calculation.

c. A common view among bank analysts is that banks will rely less on net financing income and more on non-financing income to improve profitability. The highest earning banks will be those that generate an increasing share of operating revenue from non-financing sources. The fundamental issue among managers is to determine the appropriate customer mix and business mix to grow profits at high rates, with a strong focus on fee-based revenues.

Sources of Non-Financing Income for Financial Institutions

First, it is important to mention that fees and charges imposed on customers are usually regulated by the respective central banks to control them and maintain affordable financial services to clients. Examples of such fees are as follows:

• Fiduciary activities: Trust service fees for managing the assets of individuals and businesses. The trust department of a commercial bank holds and manages assets for individuals or corporations. Trusts, foundations and other wealth structures help manage complex family wealth scenarios. Trust has multiple characteristics or purposes that can provide for various circumstances.

a. Trusts can help the client manage his/her property and assets, make sure they are distributed after his death according to his wishes in a timely and confidential manner.

b. They also help to protect the family business and manage their wealth privately and independently, whilst providing continuity, preserving capital and helping family members enjoy financial benefits across generations.

c. Individual trusts represent a big portion of trust assets managed by commercial banks. These trusts include estate assets and assets delegated to bank trust departments by less financially sophisticated investors.

d. Pension fund assets are another important type of assets managed by the trust departments of commercial banks. The banks manage the pension funds, acts as trustees for any bonds held by the pension funds, and act as transfer and disbursement agents for the pension funds.

Strategies for Increasing Non-Financing Income

One of the ways to improve non-financing income, banks may profile their best five or six customers and ask why they do business with them. Managers will then determine what type of financial business these customers do with the bank. Based on this information, banks can then determine how to increase the profitability of these best customers by satisfying their needs. The following list is an example that represents the priorities in order of a successful strategy for increasing non-financing income.

a. Determine if all existing products and services are priced appropriately. If not, adjust pricing.

b. Examine exceptions to existing pricing policies to determine if policy adjustments are needed.

c. Effectively sell existing products and services.

d. Ensure that the bank’s staff is properly trained on various product lines and create incentives to cross-market and cross-sell existing products.

e. Examine and evaluate the bank’s market to determine if the bank is in the right markets and offering the right products for that market and its customers. If not, then consider expanding the bank’s geographic market and product and service lines.

f. Ensure cost management strategies are properly implemented or adopted to reduce expenses.




The central theme is that offering the latest trendy products is not always the best strategy. Expanding the product line or the market in which the bank sells these products is expensive and risky. This is often a good strategy for growth but requires extensive market research.




Another important area for boosting non-financing income is customer relationship management (CRM). Customer penetration rates are often a key measure to level set your institution’s effectiveness at cross-selling these products and services. From this foundation, management can focus on specific products and service areas—developing target penetration rates, defining clear strategies for boosting fee income, and designing the proper education and incentive plans. A well-designed CRM solution will help tie together the strands of an effective strategy to generate non-financing income.


Exercise

Highlight the most important sources of non-financing income for Bank Islam and CIMB Islamic Bank using the following disclosures from each bank.
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CIMB Islamic: Non-Financing Income in 2016 and 2017
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Bank Islam: Non-Financing Income in 2016 and 2017 (Group and Bank)13

TEST YOUR UNDERSTANDING


1. Non-financing income is:

a. Income derived from fees and charges.

b. Income from providing credit.

c. Income generated at non-financial institutions.

d. Income after deducting cost of financing.

2. Which of these in NOT a source of non-financing income?

a. Brokerage commissions.

b. Safe deposit boxes fees.

c. Profit of murabahah sale.

d. Debit card issuance fees.

3. How can an Islamic bank increase its non-financing income?

a. Profile their best five or six customers and understand their banking needs.

b. Determine what type of financial business the customers do with the bank.

c. Customer relationship management (CRM).

d. All of the above.

Review questions:

1. What are the sources of non-interest income?

2. Why it is important to manage non-interest income?

3. Assume you are a bank manager and suggest three decisions to enhance non-interest income in your bank.

Answer: 1- A 2- C 3- D






 TOPIC 5.2: PRICING FIXED INCOME SECURITIES IN CONVENTIONAL FINANCE

Understanding fixed-rate charges is important to both financiers and investors. Regulations assist consumers by requiring banks to quote financing charges as an annual percentage rate that adjusts for these computational differences, thus enabling a direct comparison of alternate borrowing costs. Transparency in savings regulations similarly enable depositors to compare rates across various deposits. However, this is not the case for security investors, who have to decipher how alternate rate quotes affect the true yield.

Suppose that an investor has USD 1 million to invest for one year in a conventional interest-based instrument. The interest rate quoted on every one year fixed income security he considers is 8%. If the security pays simple interest, interest income for the year will equal USD 80,000. If the security pays interest compounded continuously, interest income will total USD 83,287 or USD 3,287 more.

The point is that interest rates are not necessarily equal. The same percentage quote may produce a different return depending on the frequency of compounding and whether the quote assumes a 360 day or 365-day year.




What Are Fixed Income Securities?

A fixed income security is an investment that provides a return in the form of fixed periodic payments and the eventual return of principal at maturity. Unlike a variable-income security, where payments change based on some underlying measure such as short-term interest rates, the payments of a fixed-income security are known in advance.

As the name suggests, a fixed income security is a debt instrument that generates fixed returns in the form of interest payments to investors. Firms raise capital from issuing fixed income products to lenders who are compensated with interest payments. The issuer promises to repay the principal on an agreed date in the future.

The fixed amount of interest is known as the coupon rate and the principal amount of the bond is known as the par or face value. Many types of sukuk are considered fixed income securities as they generate fixed cashflows to their investors.




Types of Fixed-Income Securities

The most common type of fixed income securities are bonds. A bond is an investment product that is issued by corporate and governmental entities to raise capital to finance and expand their operations and projects.

The borrower, or issuer of the bond, promises to pay interest, called the coupon, on an annual or semi-annual basis until a set date. The issuer returns the principal amount, also called the face or par value, to the investor on the maturity date.

Other types of fixed income securities include Treasury bills, Treasury notes, certificates of deposit (CD), and preferred stock.




Benefits of Fixed Income

Fixed-income securities generate regular income, reduce overall risk, and protect against volatility of a portfolio. The securities can appreciate in value and offer more stability of principal than other investments. Corporate bonds are more likely than other corporate investments to be repaid if a company declares bankruptcy. This fixed and pre-known income helps in financial planning for cashflows.




Risks of Fixed-Income Securities

The generally low risk of investing in fixed-income securities results in low returns and slow capital appreciation. A principal balance may be tied up for a long time, resulting in lost income by not investing in other securities. Interest rate fluctuations cause bond prices to change, potentially resulting in lost income by having money locked into a lower-interest bond and not being able to invest in a higher-interest bond.

Bonds issued by a high-risk company may not be repaid, resulting in loss of principal and interest. Investing in international bonds may result in losses due to exchange rate fluctuations. For example, if a US investor owns bonds denominated in Euros, and the Euro decreases in value relative to the US Dollar, the investor’s returns are reduced.




Factors Affecting the Price of Fixed-Income Securities

The real and perceived risks associated with any asset affects the value of that asset. Bonds are no exception. Risk is not necessarily bad but rather a financial tool to assist investors in aligning their investment objectives with a bond’s investment characteristics that will optimise returns. Understanding how these factors affect the pricing of bonds improves an investor’s ability to buy the bonds (or any other asset) that complement their personal objectives. Bonds are not a ‘one size fits all’ asset class.

1. Changes in Interest Rates:

The main risk that can impact the price of bonds is a change in the prevailing interest rate. The price of a bond and interest rates are inversely related. As interest rates rise, the price of bonds falls. This is because investors can obtain bonds with a superior interest rate, which decreases the value of a bond that has already been issued.

On the flip side, current bondholders benefit from a drop in interest rates, as it makes their bonds more valuable with other investors seeking out higher yields of previously issued bonds. Bonds with longer maturities are subject to greater price movement upon interest rate changes, since an interest rate change has a larger impact on the future value of the coupon.

2. Credit or Default Risk

The second main factor is credit or default risk. There is a risk that the issuer will go out of business and be unable to pay its interest rate and principal obligations. Issuers of high-yield bonds have more credit risk since there is likely to be a greater risk of default. To compensate investors for this higher risk, such bonds often pay higher interest rates. Rating agencies provide credit ratings for the issuers of bonds and can help investors gauge the risk associated with certain corporate bonds.

3. Liquidity Risk

Except for government debt, most bonds are traded over-the-counter (OTC) and therefore carry a liquidity risk. Unlike the stock market, where investors can easily exit a position, bond investors rely on the secondary market to trade bonds. Investors who need to exit a bond position – to access their invested principal – may have a limited secondary market to sell the bond.

Also, due to the thinner market for bonds, it can be difficult to get current pricing. Bonds vary so much in their maturities, yields and the credit rating of the issuer that centralised trading is difficult.

4. Purchasing Power Risk

Fixed-income investors often focus on the real rate of return, or the actual return minus the rate of inflation. Rising inflation has a negative impact on real rates of return, because inflation reduces the purchasing power of the investment income and principal.

5. Reinvestment Risk

Downward trends in interest rates can create reinvestment risk or the risk that the income and/or principal repayments will have to be invested at lower rates. Reinvestment risk is an important consideration for callable bonds. A bond with a call option allows the issuer to redeem the bonds prior to the maturity date. An issuer would be incentivised to call a bond before maturity when interest rates fall, theoretically allowing the issuer to issue new bonds at a lower cost. The existence of this investor risk influences the price of a bond carrying it. As an investor, you want to protect a higher yield in a falling interest rate environment and avoid having to reinvest into a lower one.




The Mathematics of Pricing Fixed-Income Securities

Just as there are many different types of securities, rates for fixed-income securities are calculated and reported differently. Depending on the characteristics of the security and pricing conventions of securities traders, the rate may be simple or compounded, the rate may be quoted on a discount basis or rate-bearing basis and the assumed number of days in a year for reporting purposes may be 360 or 365. Hence it is virtually impossible to compare quoted rates without a precise understanding of the differences in calculations.




Present Value & Future Value: Single Payment

The mathematics of fixed-income securities is based on the simple recognition that cash in your possession today is worth more than the same amount of cash to be received at some time in the future. For example, which is a better offer to you, a contract of USD 50,000 today or a contract to receive in USD 50,000 in six months? Obviously if you have cash today you could invest it for six months and it would grow in value so USD 50,000 today is worth more. The difference in value depends on the relevant interest rate that characterises your opportunity cost or investment opportunities. The concept of future value and present value provides the framework for interest rate calculation.

Present Value (PV): The value today of a single future cash flow.




Suppose an investor needs USD 10,000 in one year. If he can earn 7% annually, how much does he need to invest today?

Present Value = P/(1+r)t

Where P is the principal and r is the interest rate and t is the time period.

= USD 10,000/(1.07)1 = USD 9,345.79
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Future Value (FV): The amount to which a single cash flow or series of cash flows will grow over a given period of time when compounded at a given interest rate.

Suppose the same investor above leaves USD 1,000 for another year. How much will he have two years from now?

Future Value = P (1+r)t

Where P is the principal, r is the interest rate and t is the time period

= USD 1,000 (1.05)2

= USD 1,102.50
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Present Value and Future Value: Multiple Payments

Future value and present value analysis are slightly more complicated when more than one cashflow is involved. The only difference is that the future or present value of each cashflow is computed separately, with the commutative value determined as the sum of the computations for each cashflows.




Present Value: Multiple Cash flows

Suppose you will receive USD 200 after one year, USD 400 after one year, USD 600 after one year, USD 800 after one year,
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Future Value: Multiple Cashflows

Suppose an investor will leave USD 7,000 for investment, and after one year he will invest USD 4000 and after two years will invest another USD4000. How much will he have after three years from now?

Find the value at the end of Year 3 of each cashflow and add them together.

Cashflow at t=0

FV = 7,000 (1.08)3 = USD 8,817.98

Cashflow at t=1

FV = 4,000 (1.08)2 = USD 4,665.60

Cashflow at t=2

FV = 4,000 (1.08) = USD 4,320

CashFlow at t=3

FV = USD 4,000

Total value in three years

= USD 8,817.98 + USD 4,665.60 + USD 4,320 + USD 4,000 = USD 21,803.58
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Simple Versus Compound Rates

In practice, the amount of the rate paid on a fixed-income security is determined in many different ways. One difference is that the rate may be computed as a simple rate or a compound rate. A simple rate is the rate that is paid only on initial principal invested.

Most bank deposits pay a compound rate.

Simple rate = (outstanding principal amount) × (the period charged rate) × (the number of periods over which rate is earned)

Example of Simple versus Compound rate: USD 1,000 deposited today at 5% for 2 years.

FV with simple rate = USD 1,000 + USD 50 + USD 50 = USD 1,100

FV with compound rate = USD 1000 (1.05)2 = USD 1,102.50

The extra USD 2.50 comes from the extra rate earned on the first USD 50 payment i.e. 5% × USD 50 = USD 2.50.

Compounding Frequency:

i = Nominal Rate

i* = Effective Annual Rate

m = Number of Compounding Periods in a year
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Example: Suppose you can earn 1% per month on USD 100 invested today. How much are you effectively earning?

i* = (1 + 0.12/12)12 – 1

i* = (1.01)12 – 1 = 0.1268 = 12.68%

The Relationship Between Fixed-Income Security Rates and Option-Free Sukuk Prices:

Sukuk Prices:

A sukuk’s price is the present value of the future coupon payments (CPN) plus the present value of the face (par) value (FV):
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Sukuk Prices and Fixed-Income Security Rates Are Inversely Related:

Par Sukuk => Yield to Maturity = Coupon rate

Discount Sukuk => Yield to Maturity > Coupon rate

Premium Sukuk => Yield to Maturity < Coupon rate




Valuation of Fixed-Income Securities

Traditional fixed-income valuation methods are too simplistic for three reasons:

• Investors often do not hold securities until maturity.

• Present value calculations assume all coupon payments are reinvested at the calculated yield-to-maturity.

• Many securities carry embedded options, such as a call or put, which complicates valuation since it is unknown if the option will be exercised and at what price.

Fixed-income securities should be priced as a package of cashflows with each cashflow discounted at the appropriate zero coupon rate.

Total Return Analysis

Total return, when measuring performance, is the actual rate of return of an investment or a pool of investments over a given evaluation period. Total return includes interest/profit, capital gains, dividends and distributions realized over a given period of time.

Total return accounts for two categories of return: income including interest/profit paid by fixed-income investments, distributions or dividends and capital appreciation, representing the change in the market price of an asset.

In other words, total return is the amount of value an investor earns from a security over a specific period, typically one year, when all distributions are reinvested. Total return is expressed as a percentage of the amount invested. For example, a total return of 20% means the security increased by 20% of its original value due to a price increase, distribution of dividends (if a stock), coupons (if a bond) or capital gains (if a fund). Total return is a strong measure of an investment’s overall performance.

Example of ‘Total Return’:

An investor buys 100 shares of Stock A at RM20 per share for an initial value of RM2,000. Stock A pays a 5% dividend. The investor reinvests, buying 5 additional shares. After one year, the share price rises to RM22. To calculate the investment’s total return, the investor divides the total investment gains (105 shares x RM22 per share = RM2,310 current value - RM2,000 initial value = RM310 total gains) by the initial value of the investment (RM2,000) and multiplies by 100 to convert the answer to a percentage (RM310/RM2,000 x 100 = 15.5%). The investor’s total return is 15.5%.

To summarise, a fixed-income security rate plays an important role in facilitating the flow of funds between financers and financees. Financees prefer low rates that reduce their financing expense, while financiers prefer high rates that increase financing income. An analyst should understand the basic mathematics supporting these results and the implications for valuations.

1. Fixed-income securities are priced according to the mathematics of present value and future value. The effective price and yield depend on the frequency of compounding. The greater the compounding frequency, the greater the yield.

2. Price and yields on fixed-income securities without options exhibit well-defined relationships.

3. Many investors use total return analysis when deciding which securities to buy. Total return analysis allows an investor to vary the assumed holding period, select different investment rates and incorporate the expected impact of selling the security prior to the maturity. All of these considerations are not permitted by the yield-to-maturity calculations.

TEST YOUR UNDERSTANDING


1. Which of these is considered a fixed-income security?

a. Ordinary Shares.

b. Bonds.

c. Gold certificates.

d. All of the above.

2. Below are benefits of fixed income securities EXCEPT:

a. Regular income.

b. Less overall risk.

c. Protection against portfolio volatility.

d. Adjustment with inflation.

3. Which of these factors affect the price of fixed income securities?

a. Purchasing power.

b. Changes in interest rate.

c. Changes in liquidity and credit risk.

d. All the above.

4. A bond is sold at a premium when:

a. Yield-to-maturity is less than coupon rate.

b. Yield-to-maturity is more than coupon rate.

c. Both are equal.

d. None of the above.

Review questions:

1. Mention some examples of fixed income securities.

2. What are the benefits of fixed income securities?

3. What factors affect the price of fixed income securities?

4. What is the difference between simple and compound interest?

5. When is a bond sold at premium? Explain why.

Answer: 1- B 2- D 3- D 4- A



CHAPTER SUMMARY


This chapter discussed two important topics. The first one was about bank income from non-interest sources like fees, commissions, rentals and investment returns, and why it is important to increase such income and how to do this. The second topic was about securities that generate fixed income like bonds, why they are beneficial and the factors that influence the prices of such fixed income securities. This was followed by calculations for some fundamental concepts like present and future values, simple and compound interest, and finally the valuation of fixed-income securities.
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CHAPTER 6

CREDIT FRAMEWORK



CHAPTER OVERVIEW


Both equity- and debt-based instruments are employed by Islamic banks to finance their clients’ requirements. Based on the contracts of murabahah, tawarruq, ijarah and istisna’, debt-financing instruments are recourses extended by banks to its clients to opt for deferred payments to be fulfilled over a specific period of time. Debt-based financing instruments are widely employed by Islamic banks and dominates their financing portfolio. The profit generated by these instruments are permissible under Shariah since these are not loans but instead transactions which involve actual exchange of real asset for money.

The major risk posed by debt-based financing instruments is credit risk, since the payment for the assets is to be fulfilled on instalment basis. Credit risk is the probability of the client’s default, or its other words, its failure to fulfill the obligation of repaying the financed amount on the due date.






 TOPIC 6.1: UNDERSTANDING CREDIT RISK

What is Credit Risk?

Credit risk or the risk of default is the likelihood of a customer to default in the repayment of financing. The default may be the result of the customer’s inability to repay the amount or due to the unwillingness of the customer to honour the conditions of the contract. The possibility of losses borne by banks increases with the decline of the credit quality of customers.

The high exposure of a bank’s assets to credit risk makes it a major cause for bank failures. At other times, credit risk is also responsible for liquidity crises encountered by banks as they fall short on the amount of cash required to pay back to their sources of funds.

The credit risk of an Islamic bank or of any financial services provider may increase over time, thus compelling institutions to create provisions to write off potential bad debts in its accounts.


A Typical Example of Credit Risk

Customer X approaches ABC Islamic bank for car financing. The bank purchases the car at a price of RM 100,000 and sells the same to X at RM 110,000, such that X is required to repay the amount over a period of 5 years. X pays the installments on time for the first 6 months and then stops servicing the financing on the 7th month because of other commitments.

a. What is the credit risk that the contract with X imposes upon bank?

b. How would X’s default in the repayment of the financing impact the liquidity of the bank?






The Importance of Credit Risk Management

Robust credit risk management continues to be an integral component of the long-term viability of any financial institution. At a broader level, this is also critical for the sustainable development of the real economy by supporting financial intermediation and contributing towards containing the build-up of credit risks in the financial system.14

The risk management function serves to provide an independent and where appropriate, countervailing perspective on credit risk management issues, including credit decisions and overall credit quality. These arrangements are in turn supported by an internal audit function that provides assurance on the quality and effectiveness of the institution’s internal controls, systems and processes for credit risk oversigh. While the board and senior management play a key role in credit risk oversight, the responsibility for credit risk management is spread throughout a financial institution. In particular, business lines are primarily responsible for managing credit risks inherent in day-to-day activities, such as where credit officers evaluate customers for potential credit opportunities.15

The failure to adopt a systematic credit appraisal system in place could heavily expose a bank or a financial institution to credit risk. While it is vital for banks to recognise the factors that drive credit risk and its dynamics, the one factor most necessary to effectively manage credit risk is understanding the market. No levels of sophistication or complexity of the product or that of the customer can surpass the gravity of comprehending the market, in order to identify business risks or analyse a customer’s credibility.

That is what credit risk is. Ultimately, credit risk management aims to recognise the chance of an investment incurring losses and its consequent impact on the bank. It addresses the ability of the bank to survive a potential loss and guides the bank to adopt the most suitable approach to tackle the issue.

In most Islamic banks, various facets of credit risk exist in both on- and off-balance sheet elements such as letters of credits and guarantees. However, the largest asset on the bank’s balance sheet, and consequently the major source of credit risk, remains to be its financing assets. Credit risks may present itself in the following forms:

• Non-repayment by the customer of the financing i.e. the principle amount and the profit.

• Inability of the customer to meet contingent liabilities such as letters of credit, guarantees issued by the bank on behalf of the client.

• Default by the counterparties to meet obligations of treasury operations.

• Failure to settle in terms of security trading as required.

• Default in the flow of foreign exchange with respect to cross-border obligations.

• Default due to the restrictions imposed on remittances out of the country.

A bank’s first line of defense against excessive credit risk is the initial credit-granting process which must include sound underwriting standards, an efficient and balanced approval process, and a competent financing workforce.

TEST YOUR UNDERSTANDING


1. Which of these is NOT a form of credit risk?

a. Inability of the customer to meet contingent liabilities.

b. Default by the counterparties to meet obligations of treasury operations.

c. Inability of a bank to provide credit to a customer.

d. Failure to settle in terms of security trading as required.

2. The initial credit-granting process must include:

a. Competent financing workforce.

b. Sound underwriting standards.

c. Efficient and balanced approval process.

d. All of the above.

Review questions:

1. Define credit risk and briefly explain why it needs to be managed.

2. Does credit risk differ between Islamic and conventional banks?

Answer: 1- C 2- D






 TOPIC 6.2: CREDIT PRINCIPLES / FACTORS




Where does credit risk come from?

Credit risk depends on the client’s willingness and ability to repay the financing. Issues with respect to the willingness of the client to repay is usually overcome through the careful structuring of credit. However, the inability of the customer to pay back its dues still poses a major predicament for financial institutions.




Factors that influence credit proposal:

The credibility and reliability of the client are of utmost importance when evaluating a credit proposal. Banks only extend financing to borrowers whose integrity can be vouched for. A credit proposal is evaluated on the following factors: character, capacity, capital, collateral and conditions, commonly known as the 5 Cs.




Character

The purpose of assessing the character of a financing applicant is to identify the individual’s distinctive mental and moral qualities, which is one of the most important non-financial factor for a credit score. It is the most difficult assesment process as it involves subjective elements and may require the credit analyst’s personal judgement.

This process has been made more objective by defining the individual profile elements for assessing character and the score to assign by the credit analyst. Nevertheless, the credit analyst’s personal judgement is still involved when the credit score is assigned. By assessing the character of the customers, banks hope to identify the mental and moral qualities distinctive to the individuals. It is the most important factor when evaluating credit proposals and the most difficult to assess since customers must be judged based on human factors. Analysing character aids banks to identify the extent to which a customer would fulfill their obligation. According to most credit analysts, character evaluation is the most important non-financial indicator because fulfillment of every credit transaction is solely based on the promise of the customer to repay.

Even at a corporate level, the character and capability of the management and/or shareholders influence the direction of the company and is the factor that determines its success or failure. The character and capabilities of the top-level management is crucial in their response to times of adversity. If the shareholders of the corporate customer prove to be critical to the success of a project or the company, banks are advised to incorporate a covenant in the financing agreement that clarifies any changes in shareholding would require the consent of the bank. This covenant will secure the bank with an exit plan in case the new shareholders prove to become an unacceptable risk.

For consumer financing, banks reflect on the credit history of the consumer that appears on the credit reports of the client to evaluate their character. Credit reports are detailed information of previous borrowings and pattern of repayment of the applicant. The information is used to compute credit scores that express the creditworthiness of the clients. Credit scores are ratings given to the bank’s clients according to his creditworthiness and financial ability and other factors, and aids the bank’s assessment of the customer as a credit risk.




Capacity

Banks evaluate its clients based on their capacity or ability to generate the necessary cashflows to repay the financing. Credit analysts would conduct some form of cashflow projection analysis, once they have identified and assessed the sources of repayment of the clients. Credit officers must bear in mind that the ability of a business to generate cashflow is also dependent on qualitative factors. And hence, quantitative cashflow analysis alone would be futile without a comprehensive assessment of the management’s competency since it secures the future cashflow generations. The competency of the management is evaluated on the basis of the management’s professional qualifications as well as their previous track record or experience.

For consumer financing, the ability to repay financing is evaluated by the level of income generated by the customer. For individual consumers, the level of financial obligations should not normally exceed 30-40% of their monthly income. Thus, for an individual, his salary/income, wealth, qualifications, business acumen, health and industriousness determines his capacity to borrow, whereas for a business/company, its net income (sales plus other revenue less expenses) determined its capability.




Capital

Banks are likely to extend its financing services to clients who provide a larger capital since the larger the contribution, the lower are the chances of default by the client. Furthermore, it is an indication of the client’s commitment, which makes banks more comfortable to extend the credit. For example, customers who possess capital to fulfill the down payment for a home are likely to have the home financing extended to them. Financial commitment of individuals in consumer financing is usually measured upon the quantum of financing and bankers must be vigilant of not extending 100% financing.

Any capital raised is a potential investment opportunity for the bank. Thus, it is vital for banks to regularly assess the relativity of the financial commitment of its shareholders to the permanent assets owned by the business. It is measured upon the shareholders’ funds invested in the business along with subordinated debts or third-party collateral provided by the owners themselves in the business.




Collateral

Collaterals are supposed to compensate for any weaknesses identified in the above factors. These give the banks the assurance against customers defaulting on the financing as they may repossess the collateral. For example, car financing is secured by cars, and mortgages are secured by homes.

It is intended to provide the bank with a secondary level of security. It must not be the core foundation upon which credit approvals are based on but rather a reinforcement for the same. Collaterals at best should be the secondary back-up way out for financers and not the first exit plan available to them. Thus, financers should be trained to develop the mentality of “Don’t finance with collateral if one wouldn’t finance without”.




Conditions

Conditions are basically a culmination of all the terms of the financing, such as pre-determined profit rate, amount of principal, and intention for financing, along with external factors that affect the ability of the client to fulfil the financing obligations.

Banks must be vigilant about the utilisation of the finance by the customer. They must verify that the money is consumed by the client for the purpose it is intended for and should have strict control over the credit lines extended to the clients. In order to corroborate the above, financiers must be well equipped with the knowledge of their client’s business and the accompanying risks.

Furthermore, to ensure that their clients shall not face barriers in generating cashflows in the future, banks must dedicate resources to study the movements of both micro as well as macro factors. Changes in the trends of globalisation, foreign currency markets, legislative and regulatory framework along with other social trends can have an adverse impact on the market. The regular advancements in technology too must be considered during the evaluation, to ensure that a customer remains relevant in the industry.

The external factor that could majorly affect the financing customer is the persisting economic condition of the market. During a recession, the risk of default increases as the economic outlook could impact the demand for the customer’s products locally, especially if the products are export oriented. Thus, to guarantee the relevance of the client’s business in the industry, it is important for bankers to evaluate the economic condition, prior to extending financing.

 TOPIC 6.3: CREDIT RISK MANAGEMENT AND POLICY IN ISLAMIC BANKS

The goal of credit risk management is to maximise a bank’s risk-adjusted rate of return by maintaining credit risk exposure within acceptable parameters.

Having a sound environment to conduct credit risk management is vital to enable prudent credit decision making. Therefore, it is imperative for Islamic banks to have an established credit risk strategy in place which would articulate the bank’s overall direction for its credit activities. Effective credit risk strategies would ensure the long-term viability of the financial institution by establishing an optimal balance between credit quality, profitability and growth objectives. The board of directors and senior management of Islamic banks are responsible to promote a sound credit risk management environment, and senior management must ensure that the credit risk strategy is implemented effectively, including by establishing a board-approved credit risk policy. The credit risk policy adopted must address the following:

Credit Risk Assessment

Importance of Undertaking a Credit Risk Assessment

A comprehensive credit assessment aids in recognising and highlighting risks from the banks’ perspective. It further enables banks to identify the impact the risks could have on the respective clients and aid them in evading potentially disastrous outcomes.

However, in practice most banks underestimate the importance of conducting a credit risk assessment when extending finances to its corporate and other large clients. Banks tend to be less cynical of private clients who in turn expect their extensive portfolio to open doors for them.

The fundamental purpose of credit analysis is to aid banks in the development of businesses within the boundaries recognised as admissible levels of risks, with appropriate controls to mitigate these risks such that it generates acceptable returns.

Credit Application

Most credit application and approval processes adopted by banks are often alike though each bank has its own unique format for credit assessment hence an application is made using the bank’s standard application form to ensure the required information is provided by the applicant. Credit assessments generally contain the information of the client, the proposal, the history of repayment and the credit officier’s recommendation and in case of corporate clients, an additional section on the company’s credit assessment. Usually, the banker who is engaged as the advisor to the client is most of the time the latter’s single point of entry to the bank. As a result, he/she is responsible to oversee the entire business relationship with the client including the credit application and approval process.

Fundamentals of Credit Risk Analysis

It is paramount that banks scrutinise the willingness and the capability of a client to meet the financing obligation while analysing the creditworthiness of a firm. A credit risk analysis can only be deemed sound if the following critical topics are covered during the process :

• Purpose of the financing

• Financing amount required

• Repayment capacity of the financee,

• Duration of the financing,

• Financee’s capital contribution,

• Security aspects and insurance protection,

• Financee’s character assessment.

• The qualifications of the management team (applicable for business applicaants).

• Business plan and projections (applicable for non-individual applicantbusinesses applicants),

• Environmental considerations, and

• Other considerations.

Credit Acceptance Criteria (as required by Bank Negara Malaysia)

Bank Negara Malaysia has issued the following as a guideline for financial institutions to function within, when proceeding with credit approval:

• Financial institutions must establish sound and extensive credit acceptance standards to facilitate an ex-ante evaluation of prospective credits. While the retail credits are usually assessed against a standardised set of credit acceptance criteria; in the case of non-retail credits, the criteria used tends to be more diverse and granular.

• It is vital to consider the common credit characteristics of certain counterparties while drafting the credit acceptance criteria. The credit acceptance criteria must fall within the limits of the credit risk strategy and policy adopted by the financial institute.

• The credit acceptance criteria must clearly define the qualifying features for acceptable counterparties and at the same time address the key terms and conditions for the same. Key terms and conditions should include the type of facility, facility size, repayment schedule, type of Shariah contract and other contractual obligations.

• While undertaking a credit risk assessment for a credit facility, it is essential that financial institutions pivot on the counterparty’s ability and willingness to honour its credit obligations under all market conditions. The conditions that are accounted for must be relevant to the counterparty’s risk profile, business and operating environment as determined by the financial institution.

• Adequate evidence that supports the purpose of the counterparty to pursue the credit facility along with the evidence of their capacity to repay must be obtained and verified by the financial institution.

• Financial institutions must be careful not to rely on one single aspect while conducting the credit risk assessment of the counterparty but must perform the assessment holistically, accounting for various relevant factors. For example, the strong external rating of a counterparty or the quality of its credit risk mitigation arrangement should not prevent a financial institute from assessing the repayment capacity of the particular counterparty.

• Furthermore, financial institutions are responsible for establishing internal processes and procedures for the reliable valuation and adequate monitoring of the collateral’s location, conditions, and timely liquidation.

• Similarly, the credit risk assessment conducted on guarantors or protection providers should be undertaken by the financial institution to ascertain the former’s ability to honour the financial obligations in case of a crisis event.

Analytical Tools for Evaluating Credit Proposal

Banks must utilise the right analytical tools while conducting credit assessments to enable them to make the right credit choices. Most techniques adopted by banks to evaluate financing for credit purposes revolve around two approaches: the qualitative method and the quantitative method.

The qualitative techniques used for evaluating credit proposals examine the financial profile of the individual customers and in the case of corporate clients, includes the analyses of the board of directors and management team. The financial standing and the repayment capacity of a client is determined on premises that are subjective such as the character, capacity, capital, condition, and collateral, under the qualitative approach.

On the other hand, quantitative techniques involve analysis and interpretation of figures that constitute individual net worth position and repayment capacity. For corporate clients, the business cashflow, profit and loss accounts and balance sheet are also analysed to determine its financial position over a period. One of the most popular quantitative tools adopted to evaluate credit proposals is the financing scoring model. Financing scoring model is a computerised tool employed by financial institutions to process large volumes of consumer financing applications such as home mortgages and credit cards. A set of parameters based on certain financial and biographical criteria such as credit rating and number of dependents are keyed into the computer for facilitating the process. Each criterion is assigned with a point value and the decision on the acceptance or rejection of the application is based on the total point value ascribed to it.

Credit Approval

Financial institutions must establish a board-approved authority structure that specifies the limits granted to each credit approval authority and the circumstances under which the delegation of authority is allowed. The authority structure should be capable to mitigate potential conflicts of interest by individuals within the credit approval authority.

Credit Risk Measurement

The approach for measuring the risks involved in credit exposures developed by financial institutions must hold the capacity to aggregate and segment different credit exposures based on attributes of shared credit risk. Retaining appropriate credit risk measurement that estimates credit losses and regards the nature, scale and complexity of its credit exposures is indispensable for the longevity of financial institutions.

When measuring for credit exposures, both default risk and portfolio risk should be accounted for. Default risk can be described as the risk of the counterparty failing to meet its financial obligation while portfolio risk is the risk that arises from the composition of a bank’s exposure to various sectors.

Thus, credit risk management measures typically include three kinds of policies:

• Policies of asset classification

• Policies to limit or reduce credit risk

• Policies of financing loss provisioning

Credit Risk Monitoring

The monitoring of individual credit exposures and overall credit portfolio is a continuous process undertaken by financial institutions. Credit risk monitoring aids banks to identify signs of a counterparty’s declining ability to fulfill the financial obligations at an earlier stage. Through constant assessment, banks can supervise the consistency of credit exposures to the contractual terms, risk appetite and credit risk policy.

Most of the time, performance deterioration is preceded by warning signals, which when interpreted correctly could serve as indicators of the problems that lay ahead. Thus, early recognition of these warning signs with subsequent investigations provide financial institutions with the opportunity to implement corrective measures before conditions of the installments become unrecoverable.

To help financiers recognise these indicators, a list of early warning signals should be drafted that would aid them to easily identify the problematic accounts. By identifying the potential problematic accounts early on, financiers would be able to register appropriate actions that could prevent the account from turning delinquent. The following tables (Tables 1 and 2) are sample format of an early warning list.

Table 1: Early Warning Signals from Account Conduct



	Conduct Of Account
	Indication
	Sources
	Monitoring



	The cheques that have been issued are not related to the business transaction
	Client may be directing the usage of the funds for purposes unrelated to the business. This could eventually result in impairing the client’s ability to repay the loan.
	Current account operations
	Daily basis



	The deposits placed with the bank are not related to business operations.
	Client may be acquiring funds from sources not recognised by the bank. If these funds are sourced from another financing, it may have adverse impact on the client’s ability to fulfill its obligation to the bank.
	Current account operations
	Daily basis



	Existence of round figure deposits and withdrawals, especially if the withdrawals proceed to the same payee
	Round figure deposits and withdrawals could be indications of transactions not related to the business.
	Current account operations
	Daily basis



	If deposits are rushed in frequently to cover up overdrawn account
	Deposits made early in the morning to cover the previous day’s overdrawn account could be an indicator of a cashflow problem.
	Current account operations
	Daily basis



	Frequent payment comes to a halt
	An indicator of insufficient funds or cashflow problem.
	Current account operations
	Daily basis



	Frequent issuance of post- dated cheques
	An indicator of insufficient funds or cashflow problem.
	Current account operations
	Ad-hoc basis



	Immoderate levels of transactions with respect to the volume of business
	The funds may be acquired from other sources or channeled elsewhere.
	Current account operations
	Monthly basis



	Minimum swing
	The minimum swing (i.e. from debit to credit balances) may indicate that the client is facing a cashflow problem.
	Current account operations
	Monthly basis



	Maximum utilisation of funds with minimum transactions
	Indication of cashflow problems.
	Current account operations
	Monthly basis



	Frequent request for temporary overdraft
	Indication of cashflow problem.
	Current account operations
	Daily basis



	Frequent bouncing of cheques owing to insufficient funds/technical reasons
	Indication of cashflow problem.
	Current account operations
	Daily basis




Table 2: Early Warning Signals from the Financee’s Operations



	Financee’s Operations
	Indication
	Sources
	Monitoring



	Diversification into high-risk business ventures
	The client’s inability to repay the financing may increase since the chances of high-risk business ventures failing are higher.
	Market source
	Ad-hoc



	Reduced activity evident from site visits
	It is usually an indication of the declining orders/sales or shortage of funds to maintain the normal level of capacity. It could have an adverse impact on the ability of the client to repay financing.
	Site visit and market source
	Ad-hoc



	Unrealistic low pricing of goods or services because of competition rather than cost-cutting
	It would eventually impact cashflow problems as well as the profitability of the company in the long run.
	Site visit and market source
	Ad-hoc



	Loss of agencies, franchises or key product lines’ distributorship
	It could reduce the earnings thus impacting ability to repay.
	Market source and financee
	Ad-hoc



	Frequent changes of trade suppliers or deteriorating relationship with trade suppliers
	An indication of the difficulty or mismanagement of the client in paying his or her suppliers.
	Market source, suppliers and current account operation
	Ad-hoc



	Poor maintenance of plant and machinery
	An indicator of cashflow problem.
	Site visit
	Ad-hoc



	Loss of one or more key customers or suppliers
	While loss of customers is a result of the deteriorating quality of goods or services provided by the client, the loss of suppliers is a often a result of a delay in payment. Decline of core business reduces the earning capacity of the client.
	Market source
	Ad-hoc



	Neglect of profitable core business (perhaps due to over-concentration of new business/market)
	Decline of core business reduces the earning capacity of the client.
	Market source
	Ad-hoc







Independent Credit Review

An independent credit review would ensure that credit decisions are consistent with the financial institution’s arrangement for the overall credit risk management. Thus, financial institutions must ensure to preserve the objectivity of the credit review by engaging independent parties to undertake the review process. It is crucial to ensure that the body responsible for the independent credit review does not consist of members who are involved in credit assessment or credit approval, to maintain neutrality.

TEST YOUR UNDERSTANDING


1. Which of these is NOT considered part of the 5 Cs?

a. Capital.

b. Character.

c. Consumer.

d. Collateral.

2. Conditions refer to:

a. The terms of the financing.

b. The situation of the economy.

c. The situation of the borrower.

d. None of the above.

3. A sound credit risk analysis covers:

a. The purpose, duration and amount of the financing.

b. The repayment capacity.

c. The security aspects and insurance protection.

d. All of the above.

4. The qualitative techniques used for evaluating credit proposals include:

a. Analysis and interpretation of figures that constitute individual net worth position and repayment capacity.

b. Business cashflow.

c. Profit and loss analysis.

d. The financial profile of the individual customers and, in the case of corporate clients, the board of directors and management team.

5. Which of these policies is NOT included in the credit risk management?

a. Policies of hiring risk managers.

b. Policies to limit or reduce credit risk.

c. Policies of asset classification.

d. Policies of financing loss provisions.

Review questions:

1. What are the 5 factors that influence credit profile?

2. What are some aspects that should be included in the credit risk policy?

3. Mention three examples of early warning signals for credit risk.

Answer: 1- C 2- A 3- D 4- D 5- A



CHAPTER SUMMARY


Chapter 6 was dedicated to discuss in detail the concept of credit and its significance and origins. We then analysed the 5 Cs or the five factors or principles that affect credit worthiness namely: character, capacity, capital, collateral and conditions. Furthermore, the chapter explored credit risk management in Islamic banks starting from the credit risk assessment and ending with the independent credit review.
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CHAPTER 7

TECHNOLOGY



CHAPTER OVERVIEW


Traditionally, technology is used in banking operations for the purpose of controlled data capture, secured and controlled record keeping, providing support in terms of comprehensiveness, acuracy and timeliness in decision making, enabling wider reach of delivery channels, offering convenient payment channels as well as communication channels. Technology has made it possible for immediate response to queries, immediate credit or debit, cashless transactions, customer-initiated transactions and doing banking transactions anywhere and anytime.

Banks need to be ever-agile to the evolving IT infrastructure to better apprehend market dynamics, to anticipate customer needs and design, and to modify products and services in a timely manner. It has become vital for banks to seek out IT solutions to expand the range of sophisticated services made available in the market to remain competitive. New technology has also paved the path for the emergence of new banks accomplished in tackling IT problems, thus defining them away from traditional banks in the market. Generaly, customers are comfortable in trusting a bank that invested in the right technology.






 TOPIC 7.1: BANK MANAGEMENT SYSTEM

In general, an Islamic bank’s bank management system is the enterprise Islamic banking and investment system that addresses the bank’s business functionality in-depth through technology in a single system that highly integrates the front, middle and back offices providing an effective Straight Through Processing.




Undoubtedly, these systems must be based on Shariah guidelines to support the facilitation of Shariah compliance in the transaction of the Islamic bank. For instance, Path Solutions have developed iMAL based totally on Shariah guidelines. It has been certified by the Accounting and Auditing Organisation for Islamic Financial Institutions (AAOIFI) and has also been found compliant to the IAS (International Accounting Standards).




Predominantly, an efficient bank management system is one that helps to sustain various functions such as core banking, investment, fund management, portfolio management, asset & liability management, treasury, profit calculation, accounting, fixed assets management, personnel & payroll, trade finance, and facilities credit operations, within an Islamic bank.




The Main Components of a Bank’s Information System

The information system of a bank covers the following components and roles for example from the following perspective :

• Nucleus: Nucleus are modules that offer the necessary data functions and structures to other modules, as well as banking structure, territorial dispersion, exchange rates, and banking calendar;

• Operations: Operations include a wide range of activities, specific to banking institutions, linked to financing, current accounts, deposits, credit cards, and other products, whose functioning must be ensured through corresponding applications, which allow permanent data introduction, storage, update and evaluation;

• Credits: It entails administration of financing granted by the bank, including risk assessment for each contract.

• Clients: It involves administration of clients’ data in correlations with the other systems that considers banking operations performed for each client;

• Human resources: It would handle the human resources at banking institution level;

• Legal: Its scope is primarily to oversee financing in litigation, which engages the bank in a series of corresponding pleadings;

• Accountancy: It provides the necessary support system in performing accounting activities specific for banking institution;

• Management: It entails the facilitation of the necessary support for primary banking activities, directly or indirectly correlating to all other components, which in general, can be defined by referring to essential parameters regarding activity efficiency, represented by profit and risk;

• Marketing: It takes into consideration the marketing activities according to the needs of financial banking services sector, by efficiently combining within the marketing mix components related to product, promotion, price, distribution, personnel and physical evidences

Core Banking System

The core banking system is predominantly a back-end system which undertakes the processing of daily banking transactions and the updating of accounts and other financial records. It is the software used to support most of the common transactions carried out by the bank. The core banking system typically covers deposits, financings and credit processing capabilities, with interfaces to general ledger systems and reporting tools.

The elements of core banking that is generally included in the system are:

• Creation/origination and servicing of financing.

• Opening of new accounts.

• Processing of cash deposits and withdrawals.

• Processing of payments and cheques.

• Calculation of profits.

• Management of customer accounts.

• Establishing criteria for minimum balances, profit rates, number of withdrawals allowed and so on.

• Maintenance of records for all of bank’s transactions.




Since the core banking functions are dependent on the type of service the bank indulges in, the functions tend to differ from one bank to another. For instance, while retail banking is geared towards individual customers, wholesale banking focuses on conducting businesses between banks, and securities trading involves the purchase of stocks, shares and so on.

Core banking applications happen to be among the single largest expense borne by banks and updating legacy software is a major issue in terms of allocating resources. Such systems are based on a combination of service-oriented architecture and supporting technologies; the spending for which are often in proportion to the level of its complexity.




Facility Management System

The pre-approval process that supports the financial facilities catered by banks is one of the most important processes undertaken. It requires data accuracy, application filtering, data availability and time to respond to the customers. With a facility management system, banks can achieve these with proficiency. It enables:

• Customer applications to be processed in the system both electronically and manually

• Vital documents to be scanned, archived, viewed and reviewed

• Dispatch of automatic workflow alerts to the relevant users based on a predefined workflow process

• Speedy operations of customer grading and collateral management

• Draw-downs to be processed based on different investment and financing vehicles

• Generation of customer position, credit tickets and other relevant reports

• Application of corporate financing facility sub-limits management, by linking relevant documentary credit transactions to the respective financial facility




Islamic Banking Systems in the Market

Banks spend huge parts of their funds on building and upgrading IT systems. Some banks develop IT systems in-house while others buy it from specialised companies. A bank with the ability to develop in-house software, would have an IT department consisting of trained employees who know the features of the bank and can focus on its needs exclusively. In addition, there is no need to share key information with third parties because all processes are inside the bank’s IT ecosystem.

On the other hand, buying software from specialised companies is convenient and can be less costly, especially for new banks.

In this era of digitalisation, banks have begun using software-as-a-service (SaaS) or cloud delivery. SaaS may provide superior economics as the cost for the bank can be significantly lower than any other delivery model.

TEST YOUR UNDERSTANDING


Review questions:

1. What are the main components that a bank’s information system must comprise of?

2. How can the facility management system help the bank?

3. Name three Islamic banking information systems and the companies behind these systems.






 TOPIC 7.2: CUSTOMER RELATIONSHIP MANAGEMENT (CRM) AND CRM SYSTEM

Customer relationship management (CRM) can be simply explained as the approach adopted by companies to oversee the interactions between the company and its current or potential customers. This sub-topic explains CRM, CRM and customer service management (CSM) systems, CRM analytics and CRM architecture.

What is CRM?

In the context of banking, CRM consists of a strategic set of processes and technologies that support the processes and interactions between the bank and its customers.
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Figure 23: Customer Relationship Management Cycle

CRM is the systematic combination designed to empower enterprises to identify, acquire and retain its customers. It encompasses a coalition of people, processes and technology that seek to answer questions related to marketing, sales and services. At the core of any customer-focused business strategy is CRM.

Naturally, the CRM strategy adopted should be designed in accordance to the primary objective the respective bank aspires to attain.

Thus, if the primary objective of the bank is to retain its customers, then priority should be awarded to improving the prevailing state of customer service provided, for instance through the implementation of a web-based self-service system.

Similarly, if the bank primarily seeks to improve its customer acquisition, then the CRM strategies should cater to improving the sales and marketing processes. CRM can aid a company to achieve its business objectives, such as:

• To enable staff responsible for sales to close deals more efficiently

• To simplify the marketing and sales processes within its respective departments

• To aid in the discovery of potential customers

• To provide for better customer service by improving the efficiency of help centres

• To improve the effectiveness of cross-selling and up-selling of products and services

• To improve the revenue generated through more effective customer relationship management.

Some of the benefits of CRM are:
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Figure 24: Benefits of Customer Relationship Management

For some organisations, CRM is the core competency that differentiates them from competitors in the market. An intangible benefit of CRM is that it enables organisations to deliver a consistent experience to its customers during interactions. This eventually establishes confidence among the customers as they grow familiar to the consistency of their experiences in their communication with the firm.

CRM Systems

A CRM system has two major IT components: a data repository that enables the organisation to record the information on past and future (predicted) behaviours of the customers; and a set of applications that adds value to the interactions with the customers to meet their needs across various channels.

There are three main functional areas of CRM, which are: ‘sales force automation’, ‘customer support’ and ‘marketing automation’.

Most of these functional areas are connected to the bank’s other systems such as business intelligence, data warehousing, e-commerce and the enterprise resource planning system. This integration of the existing systems to the CRM applications, while ensuring data accuracy across the organisation, is one of the biggest challenges faced by banks’ IT functions. The CRM environment requires an extensive support mechanism that constitutes many different systems, each of which has its own data types and controls; this, thus, poses a challenge to maintain data accuracy and timeliness in delivering the business requirements for CRM tools.

Customer Service Management System

The customer service management (CSM) system is another component of CRM system. Many Islamic banks have implemented a CSM system that has enabled them to offer their products and services to their customers. It has increased the efficiency and effectiveness of the services catered towards responding to customer requests.

CSM automatically provides the information regarding the actions undertaken by the relevant business units in the bank in response to the user/customer’s request. The areas covered by the system are:

• Standard retail operations such as accepting deposits, withdrawals, and cheque book requests.

• Complete request management that empowers the bank to offer to its corporate, retail and private banking customers all its products on the counter such as: restricted investments, letters of credit, letters of guarantee, bills for collection, financial facilities, funds & securities, and investment and divestment orders.

• Anti-money laundering controls at the reporting and transaction levels, enabling and disabling transactions from being processed in the system.

• Cross-selling engine, based on pre-defined criteria and selection. Alerts are then triggered and sent across the different delivery channels to either target the customer directly or to assist and empower the teller, customer service relations officer and private banker to cross-sell with other customers.

• Client-centric, i.e. once the user selects the customer, the system will automatically get all customer related products, accounts, messages, alerts, and memos.




Business Intelligence and CRM Analytics

Role of Business Intelligence in CRM

Business intelligence (BI) is a broad category of applications and technologies that gather, store, analyse and provide access to data to empower enterprise users in the decision-making process. It includes activities of data mining, statistical analysis and other decision support systems. Data warehousing, too, is a subset of business intelligence. A data warehouse is a central repository that contains all or significant parts of data that is collected by the various business systems that prevails in an enterprise. The past decade has defined data warehousing as the critical differentiator for various vertical industries such as pharmaceuticals and financial services. Organisations could collect data either from internal operations or from external sources such as third parties, like AC Nielsen, that gathers data from consumers to support various decision support systems.

Business Intelligence Framework

The business intelligence framework is a holistic view of the processes and supporting applications that exist in a BI environment, found in most organisations. As shown in the figure below, there exist three discrete phases within the BI framework, that occurs in most practical BI environments. These are Extract, Transform and Load (ETL); Data Warehousing and Reporting Analysis.

[image: ]

Figure 25: The Three Phases of Business Intelligence Framework

CRM Analytics

Business analytics have transformed to become a necessity from a luxury in today’s world where fintech start-ups have succeeded to steal wallet shares away from banks and credit unions. Data remains an underused and underappreciated asset held by many Islamic banks. The ability to use quantitative data in business for decision making and outcomes increases the competitive advantage an Islamic bank could have as consumers’ demands for more qualified information and better personalised experiences continue to increase. It has become crucial for financial institutions to segment clients based on needs, channel propensity and potential value to cater better in serving them.

With CRM analytics rising to the top of banks’ priority lists, business analytics software could enable banks to gain a better insight into the profitability of customers, branches and products and deliver valued services to the consumers.

A business analytics software could transform the terabytes of customer data available in the core banking systems into information that could help banks to identify the needs of customers better. A user experience dashboard could reveal patterns in user digital behaviour which could be utilised in personalising marketing campaigns that customers could identify with. Similarly, through a sales dashboard, banks would be able to track marketing campaign performances in real time for immediate performance analysis.

CRM analytics involve utilisation of tools to analyse customer data that is captured throughout the organisation. The CRM community significantly recognises the analytics of the BI framework such that most CRM experts believe that the key to realising a higher return on investments for CRM projects is through the employment of CRM analytics. CRM analytics is an IT subset that evaluates and presents an organisation’s customer data to better streamline business decisions. It can segment the customers to a variety of groups based on the requirement. For instance, at its simplest, CRM can identify and group customers on the basis of those most or least likely to repurchase a product. Some examples of CRM analytics include:
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Figure 26: examples of CRM analytics

Customer data collection and analysis is a continuous process which, ideally through consistent iteration and feedback from earlier analysis and consequent, refines business decisions over time. As the basic BI technologies continue to advance and as artificial intelligence (AI) continues to gain prominence, more companies can be expected to rely on the application of AI in their various customer touch points. The basic goal of AI is to replicate intelligent human behaviour such as speech, movement, vision and reasoning. It is expected that AI will help banking industry building higher efficient and cost-effective business models.

CRM Architecture

A full-spectrum CRM architecture provides an integrated automation of business processes that encompasses various customer touch points. The use of technology has proven to be successful in providing an all-inclusive architecture that serves customers and it normally includes contact management and product configuration for sales; campaign management, telemarketing, data mining for marketing, call centre management, and field service for customer service and all data storehouses.

The architecture also accommodates several customer channels and communication streams through personnel, telephone, chats, e-mail, fax and more and it is vital for the customer experience to remain identical irrespective of the channel used. CRM is segmented into three distinct areas to better comprehend its strategy.
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Figure 27: Areas of CRM

CRM Industry Leaders in CRM Applications:
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TEST YOUR UNDERSTANDING


Review questions:

1. Briefly describe CRM.

2. What benefits can CRM bring to a bank?

3. What is the Business Intelligence framework?






 TOPIC 7.3: ATM (AUTOMATED TELLER MACHINE)

An automated teller machine or ATM is a computer-assisted self-service machine that provides all-day long access to automated banking services that are predetermined. There are more than 2,000 ATMs in Malaysia alone, while the estimate over the number of ATM cardholders is 3 million. Majority of ATMs are installed in the branch premises of banks and finance companies, and in public areas that a larger population would have access to, such as shopping complexes and petrol stations

There are certain procedures that one must adhere to in order to qualify for the services rendered by an ATM, such as possessing the appropriate plastic card known as an ATM card. Previously, these cards have a magnetic strip that contain essential data about the cardholder embossed on the back of the card as required by the ATM system. Later, they moved to a chip-and-PIN card that contains data embedded in a microchip and requires the consumer to enter a personal identification number (PIN) to complete the transaction. A chip-and-PIN card is considered more secure than a magnetic stripe credit card because of both the technology in the chip and the requirement to enter a unique PIN16.

Bank customers are provided with ATM cards upon opening of an account at the bank. These cards are accompanied by an envelope that contains the personal identification number or PIN, unique to each card holder. Customers must possess both the PIN and ATM card to be able to perform his banking transactions through the bank’s ATM system either on his current account and/or savings account.

Banks generally impose a daily limit for cash withdrawals and transfer transactions that range from USD 1,000 to USD 3,000 as a security measure. Some banks further securitise the process by imposing limits on the number of transactions a customer can perform in one day. Banks have included a number of services in the functions of an ATM that has enabled customers to pursue the services they require directly through the ATM instead of a branch. This optimises the time they dedicate in performing mundane tasks and successfully shifts the crowd away from the bank counters and allow tellers to handle the more complicated transactions. In addition, ATM cards nowadays has become more like debit cards as the cardholers can now do many other transactions with them. Some of the services that customers can avail through an ATM are:

1. For savings account ATM cardholder:

a. Cash withdrawals

b. Cash deposits

c. Transfer of funds to another account

d. Transfer of funds to pay house financing/and other financing facilities

e. Transfer of funds to pay utility and other bills

f. Transfer of funds to apply for new shares issue

g. Balance enquiries

h. Changing of PIN as and when necessary

i. Buy and pay online.

2. For current account ATM cardholder:

a. Cash withdrawals

b. Cash deposits

c. Cheque deposits

d. Transfer of fund to another account

e. Transfer of fund to pay house financing/and other financing facilities

f. Transfer of fund to pay utility and other bills

g. Transfer of fund to apply for new shares issue

h. Balance enquiries

i. Request for cheque books

j. Request for bank statement of account

k. Changing of PIN as and when necessary

l. Buy and pay online

Indeed, ATMs have become a modern convenience and accessibility to which has become a necessity to banking customers. Dedicating resources in the installation of ATMs can reap enormous benefits, such as:

1. To the banks

a. With the arrival of ATMs, customers can perform most of their required transactions at any time of the day at their own convenience. They are not required to travel all the way to a branch and wait in queue for hours to perform an ordinary banking transaction. Since ATMs have begun rendering most of such services, banks have witnessed a significant reduction in the assemblage at the bank counters.

b. Banks should also have experienced a considerable labour cost savings since the performance of the routine tasks overtaken by the ATMs, should result in lesser staff requirements at the counters.

c. Furthermore, with ATMs capable of processing many of the routine transactions, bank staff can be deployed more efficiently to perform other banking functions, thereby increasing productivity.

d. The capacity of ATMs to perform a high volume of transactions further contributes towards the overall efficiency and productivity of the bank.

e. The existence of ATMs has enabled banks to cater its services to a wider area, and as a result, banking services are no longer rendered to the confinement of the branch networks.

2. To the customers

a. Customers have the convenience to render the basic services they require with the scheduled working hours of the ATMs.

b. ATM tends to provide faster services enabling customers to complete the required transaction swiftly.

c. The services rendered by ATMs are not limited to the customers of a particular bank. This in turn increases the convenience for most customers, since most major banks have ATMs installed almost everywhere.

d. ATMs also tap on utility of time as customers are able to access their accounts beyond the banking hours. Generally, the hours of ATM operations begin early in the morning and lasts until midnight.

e. Customers have the convenience to use their debit and ATM cards as a mode of payment in most establishments (note that these days ATM cards also function as debit cards). This has contributed to the practice of going cashless as it is more convenient for people to carry a debit or ATM card as opposed to cash. Even if a customer is confronted with a situation wherein he is bound to pay cash, he can always access an ATM for the purpose of a withdrawal.

However, ATMs unfortunately are not without their drawbacks. The following are some of the disadvantages that are associated with ATMs:

1. To the banks:

a. Service through an ATM is very impersonal as an ATM is only a machine.

b. Though cross-selling of other banking/financial services are possible through an ATM, cross-selling that require a personal touch such may prove to be ineffective.

c. With the advent of shared ATM networks, banks face the risk of losing customer loyalty once the customer becomes acquainted with the services of competing financial institutions.

2. To the customers:

a. Services could seem very impersonal.

b. Since ATMs provide fast and convenient banking services, customers tend to use ATMs more often. As the number of transactions increase, customers could lose a close track of these transactions. Updating of savings account passbooks is still deemed necessary if banks do issue passbooks.

c. With the increasing reliance of customers on ATMs, any breakdown or malfunction of the computer system, ATM network or the ATMs themselves is a source of great inconvenience, especially outside of banking hours.

Shared ATM Network

Financial institutions realised that pooling resources together would be cost effective and a better solution. Thus, the idea of shared ATM networks crystallised in 1969. The shared ATM networks involve grouping of the proprietary ATM networks of the financial institutions through a centralised computer interface known as the switch. Member institutions of the consortium banks are able to provide the facility for its customers to render services of ATMs installed by other banks, by linking their respective ATM systems through the switch. Proper procedures, formalities, accounting and settlement requirements have been drawn up and implemented for the effective running of the shared ATM networks.

 TOPIC 7.4: ONLINE BANKING

Online banking is the facilitation of banking activities that can be conducted from home or on the road over the Internet. Online banking is also known as virtual banking, electronic banking (e-banking) and home banking. It enables consumers to undertake transactions using their own web-enabled devices such as computers and smartphones to bypass time-consuming, paper-based aspects of traditional banking, to increase the efficiency and speed in managing finances.

Scope of Online Banking System

The wide accessibility of the web has made the delivery of online banking services more economical while subsequently easing comparative shopping. Online banking has revolutionised the consumer banking experience, and will soon replace the traditional banking system in the not-too-distant future.

Online banking capabilities include:

• Viewing account balances and history at any time

• Accessing transaction statements

• Paying bills online

• Downloading account transactions

• Transferring money between accounts

• Balancing accounts

• Communicating with the bank

• Accessing information without the barriers of place or time.

• Investment and other capabilities such as:

○ Unit trust

○ Tabung Haji investment and hajj application

○ ASNB investment

○ Insurance/Takaful

○ Loyalty Rewards

Benefits of Online Banking

Online banking services are available around-the-clock and its transactions are executed and conformed faster, in comparison to ATM transactions. The advent of online banking has improved the performance of the daily transactions for many of the small and medium scale industries. Some of the benefits of online banking are:

Convenience: Online banking sites rarely face shutdowns and they function throughout the day. Most importantly, online banking is only one click away which enables customers to carry out their transactions within the confinement of their comfort.

Ubiquity: Online banking is accessible to customers irrespective of their current location. Customers have the privilege to access their business even when they are out of the state or country.

Transaction speed: Online banking sites generally have better processing speed in the execution and confirmation of transactions than ATMs. Customers are also not required to queue and wait their turn unlike at an ATM or at the teller.

Efficiency: The liberty to access and manage all your bank accounts, including investment accounts, deposits, even securities, from one secure spot.

Effectiveness: Online banking sites have begun offering sophisticated tools for account aggregation, stock quotes, and rate alerts to help customers manage their assets more effectively. Most sites have also been configured to be compatible with money managing programmes such as Quicken and Microsoft Money.

Drawbacks of Emerging Online Banking System

Start-up may take time: The procedures that customers must undergo to register for online programmes can prove to be distressing. Customers are expected to provide formal identification and complete documentation forms at a bank branch to be able to gain access to the services of the online banking systems. Furthermore, if a family wishes for the flexibility to view and manage assets together online, their members are expected to agree to a durable power of attorney for the bank to display all the holdings together.

Learning curve: Customers must invest time in acquainting themselves with the navigation of the banking sites as finding one’s comfort in the virtual lobby could prove to be difficult.

Bank site changes: The periodical upgrading of the online programmes by banks to add new features would require the customers to constantly update themselves with the changing features. In some cases, customers may even be required to re-enter account information or register from scratch.

Lack of trust: For many people, the biggest hurdle to online banking is learning to trust it by overcoming security fears and technology glitches. Customers, however can tackle these issues by recording the printed transcript of the transaction until one’s statement is updated.

TEST YOUR UNDERSTANDING


Review questions:

1. What are the drawbacks of ATMs to the banks and customers?

2. What services can online banking offer?

3. What are the drawbacks of online banking?






 TOPIC 7.5: OTHER TECHNOLOGIES IN BANKING OPERATIONS

MEPS (Later known as PayNet)

Malaysian Electronic Payment System, formerly known as Malaysian Electronic Payment System (1997) Sdn Bhd, is a payment consortium owned equally by 12 local banks. Its subsidiary companies are MEPS Currency Management Sdn Bhd (MCM) and FPX Gateway Sdn Bhd (FPX).

MEPS plays a significant role in the implementation of smart cards for automated teller machines (ATMs). A smart card is an upgrade from the previously issued magnetic-stripe cards to chip-based cards that fulfil multiple functions. These smart cards, also known as the Bankcard, has three main applications:

• An ATM card: to perform various combination of banking transactions

• An E-debit card: to facilitate online purchase payments at participating merchants

• A MEPS Cash card: loads monetary value into a bank card chip to facilitate payment at participating merchants.

MEPS provides the following services to all the participating banks in its networks17:

1. Shared ATM network: Provides bank customers with the convenience to access their funds in any of the participating banks’ ATMs irrespective of their location. ATMs don’t only cater to services of withdrawals and balance enquiry; today there are several interbank facilities offered to the bank’s customers.

2. ATM Inter-bank Fund Transfer (IBFT): It enables bank customers to transfer funds from one account to another account in another bank such that the beneficiary receives the funds immediately and instantaneously, as the transfer is online and in real time.

3. Credit card and loan/financing repayment: It facilities real-time inter-bank repayment of loans/financing facilities and credit cards. This service enables bank customers to fulfil the payment of their credit card bills and loans through the ATM of another bank that is part of the network. It provides flexibility to customers in fulfilling their monthly commitments.

4. Overseas cash withdrawal: MEPS has initiated cross-border ATM links to several countries in the region, namely Indonesia’s PT Artajasa Pembayaran Elektronis (ARTAJASA) and PT Rintis Sejahtera (Rintis), Singapore’s National Electronic Transfer Pte Ltd (NETS), Thailand’s National ITMX, China’s China UnionPay and South Korea’s Korea Financial Telecommunications & Clearings Institute (KFTC). This enables customers of the participating banks the convenience to make cash withdrawals and certain other transactions via ATMs in the said countries.

In 2017, MEPS has merged with MyClear in 2017 to become PayNet. With the result of the merger, PayNet is now the holding company for the PayNet Group which comprises two main subsidiaries, namely Malaysian Electronic Payment System Sdn Bhd (MEPS) and MEPS Currency Management Sdn Bhd (MCM). The PayNet Group is Malaysia’s premier payments network and central infrastructure for financial markets18.

Bank Negara Malaysia (BNM) is PayNet’s single largest shareholder, with eleven Malaysian’s financial institutions namely, Malayan Banking Berhad, RHB Bank Berhad, Public Bank Berhad, CIMB Bank Berhad, AmBank (M) Berhad, Hong Leong Bank Berhad, Affin Bank Berhad, Alliance Bank Malaysia Berhad, Bank Islam Malaysia Berhad, Bank Muamalat Malaysia Berhad and Bank Kerjasama Rakyat Malaysia Berhad, as joint shareholders.

SWIFT

SWIFT is an acronym for Society for Worldwide Interbank Financial Telecommunications. SWIFT is a private international telecommunications network that took its roots in Belgium in 1973. Through intensive hard work and international cooperation and coordination, SWIFT became operational on 9 May 1977 and has grown rapidly over the years. Presently over 3,000 institutions from around the world are members of SWIFT, who use the SWIFT network to direct at least 2 million messages every day. The SWIFT system provides its members a platform to indulge in international payments, transfer of funds, exchange messages related to international finance, foreign exchange, deposits, etc. at reduced operating costs and high security.

The member institutes of SWIFT, that function within the stringent rules and regulations laid down by the organisation, have achieved tangible and monetary benefits through the network in terms of maintaining confidentiality and privacy, increase in productivity, reduced risks of clerical and other errors and effective funds management. Almost all banks in Malaysia are member institutes of SWIFT.

Virtual Banks

These banks have no physical location and conduct their business only through online transactions. NetBank (netbank.com) and First Internet Bank (firstib.com) are specimens of the same.


Case Study : Reduce Money Laundering Risk with Big Data Analytics

New anti-money laundering (AML) compliance regulations have resulted in multi billion Dollar fines for many large financial institutions. As a result, the financial services industry has made fraud detection and compliance top priorities. To keep up with regulations, sophisticated data management solutions are required.

Intel and our partners meet that challenge head on, providing new opportunities for internal operations management and money laundering detection. Many institutions spend more time preparing data than utilising analytics to make time sensitive decisions. This results in huge losses and inefficiencies. Companies like SAS and Cloudera utilise Intel® technology to streamline data management, analytics, and by extension, decision-making, and regulatory compliance. Faster analytics increases security, making AML operations more powerful than ever before.

[image: Image]

Promote Better Money Laundering Detection By:

1. Unifying data silos from legacy systems, providing trusted information.

2. Analysing large volumes of both structured and unstructured data in real time.

3. Detecting money laundering patterns across omnichannel touch points.

4. Visualising data for unstructured searches that can detect anomalies ahead of an internal audit.

Data siloing can be one of the main causes of inefficiency and cost. The financial services industry collects data from many sources, including mobile, online, point-of-sale, and ATMs. Often, this data is fragmented, or only available for a short time. Apache Hadoop* provides the flexibility to ingest and consolidate data from any source, providing secure unification of information.

[image: Image]

By introducing an enterprise data hub built on an Apache Hadoop* open-standard, open-source framework, financial institutions have a starting point to analyse massive volumes of structured and unstructured data. These analytic operations can be done in real time, allowing users to identify suspicious trends fast.

User interaction happens across a multitude of touchpoints, including online, point-of-sale, mobile, and many others. Money laundering can take place at any one of these points, and a data solution that allows for rapid detection is paramount. A robust and powerful predictive modeling solution can be the key to stopping omnichannel money laundering.

Internal audits can be time-consuming and costly, so a solution that allows for unstructured search and rapid modeling is a no-brainer. With a powerful and agile scenario engine, reporting can be automated to scan for suspicious activity and other anomalies before they become major problems.

Source: https://www.intel.com/content/www/us/en/financial-services-it/solutions/anti-money-laundering.html



TEST YOUR UNDERSTANDING


1. Mention two services provided by MEPS (PayNet) to the participating banks in the network.

2. Briefly explain SWIFT.

3. How can big data be useful in managing money laundering risk?



CHAPTER SUMMARY


This chapter presented some topics related to technology in banking. The start was with two information systems that are considered the backbone in any bank, the bank management system and the CRM and its system. The well-known ATMs and their traditional and modern services were discussed to highlight their role and capabilities. After that, the online banking system was introduced to present its scope, benefits and drawbacks. Three related technologies (MEPS (PayNet), SWIFT, virtual banks) were discussed briefly followed by a case study for the role of big data analytics, which is also a modern concept in banking and finance, in managing the money laundering risks.
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Total other comprehensive income

Total comprehensive income for the financial year

The Group The Bank

2017 2016 2017 2016

R00 RMO00 R0 RAO0O

293855 2348382 2935552 234838

252088 188,684 252,088 188684

311,783 358433 314576 359,463
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w98 6406 5432
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FINANCING, ADVANCES AND OTHERS

(@)

By type and Shariah contract

BAT UARAH  LIARAH
BITHAMAN BAI BAI AT- MUNTAHIAH  THUMMA
GROUP AND BANK AJIL MURABAHAH ALDAYN ALNAH TAWARRUQ BIT-TAMLEEK  AL-BAI ISTISNA' AR-RAHNU TOTAL
31 DECEMBER 2016 RM000 RM000  RM000  RM000 RW000 RM000  RM000  RM000 RM000 RM000
Atamortised cost
Cash line - ~ - g 1190 - - - - 1236920
Term financing
House financing A 4484247 - - - 9503014 - - 59088 - 14,086,349
Syndicated financing = = - 196129 1045880 R PEREY - - 1365207
Leasing financing - - - - - 90,610 902 - - 91,512
Bridging financing - - - - - - 31 - 82,313
Personal financing A - - - nenas e - - - 1239921
Other term financing 2086188 933316 - 4083 7,106660 - - 1,503 - 10,131,739
Staff financing 83743 5087 - - 98821 - - a2 - 201,869
Credit cards = - - o004 450388 - - - - 4593%2
Trade bills discounted = 741037 180010 - - - - = - a7
Trust recelpts - 5160 - - - - - - - 5,169
Pawn broking - - - - - - - - 85315 85,315
Investment Account
Platform * - ~ - - 5690 - - - - 5,690
6654178 1,684,609 180,010 289,272 30,607,236 90610 124091 157,122 85315 39,872,443
Allowance for impalred financing, advances and others
- collective assessment allowance (554,971)
~Individual assessment allowance (128,198)

Net financing, advances and others

39,189,274
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Contractual maturity of assets and les.

The table below analyses the assets and liabilities of the Group and the Bank based on the remaining period to the contractual maturity dates in
accordance with the BNM Guidelines:

The Group
31 December 2017
Upto1 >1-3 >3-6  >6-12 >1-5 Overs  Nospecific
‘month months months ‘months years years  maturity Total
RM'000 RM'000 RM000  RM000 RM000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000
Assets
Cash and short-term funds 14,282,896 - = - o - - 1428289
Deposits and placements with banks and
other financial institutions - 530,017 - = o = 530,017
Financial assets held for trading 988,142 1,194,092 235,087 134,103 89,641 - amsas
Financial investments available-forasale - 10,118 20,198 696,546 1,191,123 515 1,923,597
Financial investments held-to-maturity - 20302 62968 1u|7'm 2541160 - amas
Islamic deivative financial instruments 51,867 79,130 76210 120217 34,306
Financing , advances and other financing/loans 297,131 I 366036 RESSTGS 9 m P 40178864 - sTssLaes
Other assets 604,089 - - - 604,089
Deferred taxation - - - - - - 17,795
Statutory deposits with Bank Negera Malaysia. - - - - - - 1,554,286
due from related companies a4 - - - c - E 4
Goodwill - - - - - - 136,000 136,000
Intangible assets - - - - - - 79,09 79,092
Property, plant and equipment - - - - - - 6031 6031
Total assets 18901539 2540766 L092.004 4080231 12748134 __ 4121005 1793779 85277458
‘The Group
31 December 2017
Upto1 >1-3 >3-6  >6-12 >1-5 Overs
‘month months months. months cars years Total
RM000 RM000  RM'0O00  RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000
bilities
Deposits from customers. J60TSII 14898435 BAEB064 5145803 4846 13,018 o
Investment accounts of customers . 524,983 93,291 - - - - 907,763
Deposts and placems o bk sud e
il i 2,066,088 60742 31534 2081 2 E - 2160415
imvestment accounts due fo designated financil
institutio 5889944 2255740 - - - - - 8145684
Financial Habilies designated at fir value - 233 - - - - - 2233
Islamic derivative financial instruments 54020 77683 45,668 76556 330,457 108,375 - o2
Amount due to holding company 20588 - - - - - - 0.5t
Amount due to related companies 813 : - - o N .
Other liilities 574,948 - 2 - 16,557 25,000 - 616,505
Provision for taxation 56,150 - - - - - - 56,150
Recourse obligation on loans and financing
sold to Cagamas 15292 157,000 n s oo - - 2072300
Sukuk. 257 - - 1000
Subordinated sukuk 5,006 5 - -
Total 051,403

Net liquidity gap (26,149,869) (7,566.553) 43874612 1793779
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Contractual maturity of financial liabi

Derivative finan

The table below analyses the Group’s and the Bank’s trading derivative financial liabilities and hedging derivative fi

settled on a net basis:

Derivative financial liabilities
Trading derivatives

- Profit rate derivatives

- Equity related derivatives

- Credit related contracts

Hedging derivatives:
- Profit rate derivatives

abilities (Continued)

Upto1
month
RM'000

(107.951)

(1350)
(118,880)

>1-3
months
RM'000

18949
18,949

les on an undiscounted basis (Continued)

The Group and the Bank

>3-6
months
RM'000

(34,866)
(34,866

31 December 2017

>6-12
months
RM'000

20,026)
(20,026)

>1-5

years
RM'000

9415
@9.415)

inancial liabilities that will be

No specific
maturity
RM'000

Total
RM'000

(107,951)
@953
(©26)

©2,708)
(204,238)
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Other operating income
Net gain/(loss) from financial assets held for trading;

- realised

- unrealised

Net gain from sale of financial investments available-for-sale
Net gain/(loss) from foreign exchange transactions

Net loss from hedging activities

Net gain/(loss) from derivative financial instruments

- realised

- unrealised

Net gai/(loss) arising from financial liabilities designated at
fair value

- realised

- unrealised

Fees and commission income
Less : Fee and commission expense
Net fees and commision income
Other income:

- Sundry income

The Group
31 December 2017
(RM000)

The Group
31 December 2016
(RM'000)

11,224

146,932 106,
10,703

136,229

3,701

311,753

358433
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Group Group an} Bank
2017 2016 2017 2016
(RM'000) (RM000) (RM'000) (RM'000)
Other dealing income
Net gain from foreign exchange transactions 66396 73,114 66396 73,114
Net derivatives loss (779) (4,515) (779) (@,515)
Net gain from sale of financial assets held-for-trading - 345 - -
Net loss on revaluation of financial assets held-for-trading - 170) - -
65,617 68,774 65617 68,599
Other operating income
Net gain from sale of financial assets available-for-sale 272 424 72 224
Gain on liquidation of a subsidiary - - - 89
Gross dividend income from securities
- unquoted in Malaysia - 1,612 - 1,612
- unit trust in Malaysia 2,600 3379 2422 3379
2872 5415 2,694 5,504
Fees and commission
Card fees and commission 70,751 67,002 70,751 67,002
Takaful service fees and commission 28,436 33,766 28,436 33,766
Financing fees 22810 21,078 22810 21,078
Commission on MEPS 13,184 12,022 13,184 12,022
Ar-Rahnu fees 11,984 10,964 11,984 10,964
Unit trust management fees 10,158 7.877 - -
Mobile banking fees 6,808 7,000 7,000
Deposit and payment service fees 6,677 7.510 7.510
Corporate advisory fees 5,877 4,041 4,041
Processing fees 4,202 3172 3471
Commission on bills payment system 2,831 25712 2572
Commission from wealth management services 58 2 4322
Ta'widh Charges 698 902 902
Others 24292 20,102 14,567
198,032 188917
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CIME Income Statement by Category 2017 (RM'000)
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oup BANK
31022016 31122017 31.12.2016
000 X

Assets
Cash and short-term funds 4,185,697 3,063,417 4,185,561 3,963,268
Deposits and placements with banks and
other finandial nstitutions 100,000
Finandial assets held-for-trading
Derivative financial assets 68319
Financial assets available-for-sale 9,252,683
Financial assets heldtosmaturity -
financing, advances and others 42,113,420
Other assets 1 123,503
Statutory deposits with Bank Negara Malaysia 1 1,407,284
Current tax assets 1792
Deferred tax assets 1 37288 48,378
Investments in subsidiaries - -
Property and equipment 172,003 185,562 184,547

Total assets 57,742,914 55676697 57750240 55683301

Liabilities and equity
Deposits from customers 1 46192910 45940414 46209028 45909715
Investment accounts of customers 4,260,185 3,812,261 4,260,185 3,812,261
Deposits and placements of banks and

other financial institutions - -
Derivative financial abilies 74,668 74,668
8ills and acceptance payable 420258 420258
Subordinated Sukuk Murzbaheh 1,006,486 1,006,486
Other liabiltes 782,299 773,769
Zakat and taxation 46,404 45,046 46,340 45,019

Total liabilities 52,783,210 51291231 52790734 51,297,346

Equity
Share capital 2,869,498 2400386 2869498 2,404,384
Reserves 2,090,206 1,981,082 2,090,008 1,981,571

Total equity 4,959,704 4,385,466 4,959,506 4,385,955

Total liabilities and equity 57,742,914 55676697 57750240 55683301

Restricted investment accounts managed
by the Bank 124384 141,343 124,384 141,343

Total Islamic banking asset owned and managed
by the Bank 57,867,298 55818040 57874624 55824644

Commitments and contingencies 13,768,162 13,704,559 13,768,162 13,704,559
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